EVALUATION OF CURRENT DECISION RULES AND HEALTHCARE PROFESSIONAL PRACTICES FOR DECTECTING OSTEOPOROSIS RISK IN THE YOUNG ADULT POPULATION

AMANDA LYNN WILLIG

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

In

Human Nutrition, Foods, and Exercise

Sharon M. Nickols-Richardson, Ph.D., R.D., Committee Chair

Kathleen P. Poole, Ph.D.

Elena Serrano, Ph.D.

June 23, 2004

Blacksburg, Virginia

KEY WORDS: Bone mineral density, healthcare practices, osteoporosis, surveys

AMANDA LYNN WILLIG

Abstract

Evaluation of current decision rules and healthcare professional practices for detecting osteoporosis risk in the young adult population (Under the direction of SHARON M. NICKOLS-RICHARDSON)

Osteoporosis is caused by a multitude of factors. An individual's risk for experiencing a bone fracture as a senior citizen increases without early intervention. Healthcare professionals do not have access to validated survey tools to identify young adults in need of osteoporosis prevention education, although survey tools to identify postmenopausal women at high risk for low bone mass are available. The purposes of this study were to evaluate three of these survey tools for use in a younger population, and to determine if young adults with osteoporosis risk factors received bone health education from a health professional. Forty-two men and 41 women completed surveys and health questionnaires; responses were compared to bone mineral density (BMD) and content (BMC) measurements. Healthcare professionals discussed bone health with only 13% of participants. Chi-square analysis revealed that health professionals were not more likely to discuss osteoporosis with subjects based on age or gender. Participants with T-scores \leq -1.0 were not more likely to receive bone health education. Area under the receiving operating characteristic (AUROC) curves analysis revealed that no survey tools were able to identify moderate-risk participants at T-scores \leq -1.0, and AUROC curves for all surveys did not exceed 0.525 at this level. Two surveys detected participants at high risk for bone disease with identical AUROC curves of 0.821 at a T-score \leq -2.0, and 0.813 at a T-score \leq -2.5. The AUROC curves indicate that current tools designed for older women do not detect young adults with moderately low T-scores.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my parents, Kenny and Ann, who have made every possible sacrifice in their lives to enable me to reach my goals; and to my husband, James, for providing countless hours of love, support and laughter throughout this entire process.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The past few years have proven to be a truly remarkable experience for me both personally and professionally. I have come to realize that my achievements are not merely the result of my own endeavors, but are in fact the compilation of a multitude of efforts by friends and colleagues who have provided endless support and encouragement. My sincerest thanks go to each of these special persons for their hard work and inspiration:

First and foremost, to my heavenly father, who has carried me during this entire process and blessed my life in countless ways during the past two years.

I am eternally grateful to my major advisor, Dr. Nickols-Richardson, who has consistently exhibited the highest standards of practice during my time at the university. Without her assistance and calming influence, I undoubtedly would not have made it to this point. She stands as an exemplary role model of how a professor should interact with her students, and I only hope that I can follow her example in my own career.

To Dr. Poole, for your smile and sunshine that radiates wherever you go. Thank you for teaching one of the most entertaining and informative classes I experienced during my time at Tech. To Dr. Serrano, for her extra recruitment efforts during this research and for encouraging my additional research interests.

My husband, James, has been a true source of joy and peace during this time. His calming influence provided me with the strength to accomplish seemingly insurmountable tasks, and his "reality checks" enabled me to view each day objectively and with humor. He has given me a professional example through his own amazing

accomplishments, and I love him dearly for that. James, I suppose that does warrant a projector in the future.

My parents, Kenny and Ann, have always inspired me to take on new tasks with determination and enthusiasm. Your love and guidance continues to influence me each day and makes me proud to call you my parents. To James and Milagros, who greeted me with open arms into their family and have cheered me on throughout my education.

James, Mary Dean, Bridget and Kelly, for their persuasive recruiting efforts. I quite literally would not have completed this effort without each of you.

The Wescott family, for serving as a wonderful addition to my "Roanoke family".

My brother, Scott. His love for learning and history inspired me to imitate his ambitions even as a child. Although I have never admitted it to him, so many of my accomplishments and goals began as a result of his influence. Thanks for putting up with me!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
CHAPTER	PAGE
INTRODUCTION	1
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	4
Statement of the Problem	4
Osteoporosis	
Prevalence.	
Economic Cost.	
Peak Bone Mass	
Bone Structure	7
Bone Resorption	
Bone Formation.	
Calcium Homeostasis	
Types of Osteoporosis	
Dietary Intake and Bone Mineral Density	
Calcium and Bone.	
Vitamin D and Bone.	
Phosphorous and Bone	
Zinc and Bone	
Magnesium and Bone	
Sodium, Fat, Protein and Bone	
Fiber and Bone.	
Phytoestrogens and Bone	
Healthcare Provider and Consumer Awareness of Prevention Strategies	
Physician Awareness	
Prevention Education.	
Consumer Awareness.	
Osteoporosis Risk Detection	
Survey Tools	
Bone Mineral Density Testing.	
Summary	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	37

Study Participants	37
Procedures	38
Personal Data	
Anthropometric Data	
Survey Instruments	
NOF Survey	
ORAI	
SCORE Survey	40
Bone Mineral Density Measurements	
Hypothesis	
Statistical Analysis	
RESULTS	43
Anthropometric Data	43
HealthCare Provider Education	
Chi-Square Analysis	
Evaluation of Decision Rules	
NOF Survey	
ORAI Survey	
SCORE Survey	
Comparisons	
Decision Rules for Women	
Decision Rules for Men	
DISCUSSION	60
Future Research	65
REFERENCES	66
APPENDIX	75
NOF Survey	76
ORAI Survey	
SCORE Survey	
X/Y/D A TO	70

LIST OF TABLES

CHA	۲d	$\Gamma \Gamma D$	2
	71 I	LIL	

RISK FACTORS FOR SECONDARY OSTEOPOROSIS
COMPARISON OF SURVEY TOOLS USED TO DETECT LOW BMD IN WOMEN AND MEN
CHAPTER 4
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDY POPULATION44
GENERAL HEALTH CHARACTERISTICS OF PARTICIPANTS
HEALTHCARE PROVIDERS WHO DISCUSSED OSTEOPOROSIS RISK WITH PARTICIPANTS
NUMBER (PERCENT) OF PARTICIPANTS WITH OSTEOPENIA, SEVERE OSTEOPENIA, AND OSTEOPOROSIS
AVERAGE BONE MINERAL DENSITY (BMD) T-SCORES OF STUDY PARTICIPANTS. 51
SURVEY SCORE DISTRIBUTION
AVERAGE TEST SCORES FOR THE NOF, ORAI, AND SCORE SURVEYS
SENSITIVITY, SPECIFICITY, AND AREA UNDER THE RECEIVING OPERATING CHARACTERISTIC (AUROC) CURVE FOR DECISION RULES TO DETECT LOW BMD IN ADULTS AGES 20-40 YEARS AT 3 T-SCORE LEVELS
SENSITIVITY, SPECIFICITY, AND AREA UNDER THE RECEIVING OPERATING CHARACTERISTIC (AUROC) CURVE FOR DECISION RULES TO DETECT LOW BMD IN WOMEN AGES 20-40 YEARS AT 3 T-SCORE LEVELS
SENSITIVITY, SPECIFICITY, AND AREA UNDER THE RECEIVING OPERATING CHARACTERISTIC (AUROC) CURVE FOR DECISION RULES TO DETECT LOW BMD IN MEN AGES 20-40 YEARS AT 3 T-SCORE LEVELS

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Osteoporosis is a debilitating bone disease that can be caused by a multitude of lifestyle and metabolic factors ("Assessment of fracture risk..." 1994). If maximum bone density is not reached and maintained during adolescence and early adulthood, an individual's risk for experiencing a bone fracture as a senior citizen increases (Looker et al. 1997). These resulting fractures and other osteoporosis-related care costs the healthcare system \$13.8 - 20 billion in hospitalizations, therapies, treatments, nursing home stays, and lost work productivity (Ray et al. 1997). In addition, mortality in both men and women who sustain a hip fracture is significantly increased both during the hospital stay and one year after hospital discharge (Center et al. 1999, Forsen et al. 1999, Kiebzak 2002, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998). Bone fracture survivors often experience a significant decline in quality of life, and many elderly citizens express significant anxiety over the possibility of fracture occurrence (Salkeld et al., 2000).

At the present time, it is questionable whether medications designed to prevent osteoporosis-related fractures are cost-effective ("Analysis of the effectiveness..." 1998); therefore, prevention remains the best option for osteoporosis treatment. Most individuals reach peak bone mass, or the maximum bone mass attainable for an individual, by their late twenties (Anderson 2000, Recker et al. 1992). Prior to this time, continued bone growth is possible. Although heredity, gender and ethnicity each play a role in peak bone mass, epidemiological studies suggest that diet and environment also play critical roles in bone development and maintenance throughout the lifecycle (Anderson & Pollitzer 1994, Johnston et al. 1992, Lees et al. 1993, Mazess 1982, Runyan et al. 2003). This would

suggest the need for preventive education with a young adult population.

Currently, no strict guidelines exist to aid physicians in detecting those persons at risk for osteoporosis; however, general guidelines and screening tools have been developed for this purpose ("Assessment of fracture risk..." 1994, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998, "Position of the American..." 1999). Multiple studies indicate that healthcare professionals do not discuss osteoporosis with patients of all ages, and often do not treat those patients already diagnosed with the condition (Kiebzak et al. 2002, Mudano et al. 2003, Schrager et al. 1999). Survey tools that allow health professionals to screen patients for low bone density risk could provide efficient, cost-effective care in both the clinical and public health settings. While multiple tools have been validated in an older cohort (Cadarette et al. 2000, Cadarette et al. 2001, Lydick et al. 1998, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998, Weinstein & Ullery 2000), no surveys are validated in a younger cohort of men and women. Physicians often have only a limited time available during patient visits, and must prioritize health concerns to discuss with each individual. Given the wealth of information suggesting that peak bone mass is achieved early in life and that the best osteoporosis treatment is prevention, these surveys could provide a way to educate both physicians and consumers about the importance of bone building and maintenance in young, premenopausal women and in young men and identify those patients who can most benefit from such a discussion.

In order to provide information in these areas, the current study was designed to:
(1) determine whether currently existing survey tools designed to detect osteoporosis risk in postmenopausal females are also applicable to a younger adult population, and to (2)

determine if those adults with risk factors for osteoporosis have been informed of having a high-risk status by any healthcare professional. This study found that health professionals discuss bone health with consumers less than 50% of the time; moreover, gender, age and actual bone density results did not affect the rates of discussion of osteoporosis among health professionals and their clients. Current survey tools in use for the older population are not appropriate to screen men and women ages 20-40 years for osteoporosis risk. These results indicate the need for additional training among health professionals regarding osteoporosis prevention, and warrant the development and validation of a survey tool capable of screening the young adult population for osteoporosis risk.

CHAPTER 2

Review of Literature

Statement of the Problem

Research concerning the prevalence of low bone mineral density (BMD) in young adults is limited. Currently, healthcare professionals do not have access to validated survey tools that could identify young adults in need of osteoporosis prevention education. This study evaluates the effectiveness of three survey methods in detecting those adult men and women with low bone mass.

Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is a skeletal disease manifested by significantly low bone mass that increases an individual's fracture risk ("Assessment of fracture risk..." 1994). It is prevalent primarily in developed countries and is one of the most debilitating diseases in regards to quality of life (Anderson 2000, Trowell & Burkitt 1981). Osteopenia is characterized by low bone mass that does not meet the accepted criteria for the diagnosis of osteoporosis, but which is a potential precursor for osteoporosis. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), an individual's fracture risk is elevated for each standard deviation (SD) below the average peak bone mass for young, healthy adults. Bone mineral density testing is usually used as a predictor of osteoporosis. Osteopenia occurs when BMD is between 1 and 2.5 SD below the young adult reference mean. Osteoporosis is diagnosed if BMD is 2.5 SD or greater below the young adult reference mean ("Assessment of fracture risk..." 1994). After BMD has been considered, age is the next best predictor of fracture risk (Kanis et al. 2000).

Prevalence

Both men and women have an increased risk of developing osteoporosis as they progress through the lifecycle, with an estimated 30 million Americans currently diagnosed with osteopenia or osteoporosis (National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998, "Position of the American..." 1999). Osteoporosis increases the risk of bone fracture as an individual ages. The probability that a woman will develop an osteoporotic bone fracture during her lifetime is 50%. In comparison, men have a 13 - 25% lifetime fracture risk (Looker et al. 1997). Yet, those individuals who do develop the disease place a significant burden on the healthcare system. Osteoporosis-related healthcare accounts for approximately 2.5 million physician visits, 432,000 hospital admissions, and 180,000 nursing home placements annually. Expected survival rates for men and women are reduced by 15 - 20% during the year following a hip fracture (Center et al. 1999, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998). While more hip fractures occur in women, men are twice as likely to die during hospital admission for a hip fracture, and have a 14% higher mortality rate one year after fracture occurrence (Forsen et al. 1999, Kiebzak 2002). The decline in quality of life associated with a fracture can also contribute to increased anxiety and depression in women. In a survey of 194 women over 75 years of age, 80% indicated that they would rather die than experience a hip fracture and subsequent nursing home admission with decreased independence (Salkeld et al 2000).

Economic Cost

Osteoporotic fractures contribute significantly to current medical care costs. The treatment of fractures in the United States costs approximately \$13.8 – 20 billion annually, with the majority of expenses dedicated to inpatient medical services and

nursing home placements (Pramer et al. 1992, Ray et al. 1997). These expenses could increase exponentially with the expected population growth of elderly persons and reach \$50 billion by the year 2040 (Ray et al 1997). Unfortunately, the cost-effectiveness for preventive treatment remains highly controversial. Medications to preserve or build bone mass are used for many years, even while the immediate risk for a fracture is minimal (Kanis et al. 2000). A report from the National Osteoporosis Foundation estimates that the number of women aged 50 years needed for treatment to successfully prevent one hip fracture is approximately 355 ("Analysis of the effectiveness..." 1998). These numbers decrease to 150 women aged 60 years, 55 women aged 70 years, and 20 women aged 80 years ("Analysis of the effectiveness..." 1998). This debate highlights the importance of interventions designed to educate young adult men and premenopausal women on strategies available to reach and maintain peak bone mass.

Peak Bone Mass

Peak bone mass refers to the attainment of maximum bone mass for an individual (Anderson 2000). This state is typically reached by the third decade of life, although the specific age can vary due to individual environmental differences in diet, physical activity levels and strain placed on the skeleton during the early decades of life (Recker et al. 1992). Gender contributes to peak bone mass; women have been found to reach an average BMD level 15% lower than men's peak attainment (Mazess 1982). Researchers have also hypothesized that heredity plays a crucial role in the level of peak BMD attainable, accounting for as much as 70% of acquired bone density (Johnston et al. 1992, Runyan et al. 2003). One study found that the amount of bone mass attained by age twenty varied significantly by ethnicity, with African-American females possessing the

highest levels, followed by Caucasian-Americans and then Japanese (Anderson & Pollitzer 1994).

Hereditary factors for peak bone mass acquisition cannot be ignored; however, despite the role that ethnicity may play in bone development, epidemiological evidence has been presented that suggests that environmental factors play a significant role in inadequate peak bone mass attainment in the western world. Japanese and Chinese women typically have lower BMD than their American counterparts, yet Americans are twice as likely to experience hip fracture compared to Japanese women and have an overall fracture risk five times higher than Chinese women (Anderson & Pollitzer 1994, Campbell & Cox 1996, Fujita & Fukase 1992). Anthropological findings indicated that the bones of 87 British females buried prior to the year 1900 maintained superior bone density levels in life compared to 300 present-day female counterparts (Lees et al 1993). In order to understand how environmental factors could influence bone development and how best to provide prevention strategies to achieve maximum peak bone mass, a clear understanding of bone formation and resorption is necessary.

Bone Structure

Bone tissue is essential for humans to provide a supportive framework for the body. The tissue is an organic matrix composed primarily of type I collagen fibers interspersed with deposits of phosphate and calcium salts, and hydroxyapatite crystals (Anderson 2000). The tensile properties of collagen fibers provide bone with flexibility, while the hardness of hydroxyapatite crystals provides bone with strength. Bone is comprised of two types of tissue: cortical and trabecular. Eighty percent of the human skeleton is comprised of cortical, or compact, bone, which is located primarily in the

shafts of long bones (Anderson 2000). The remaining 20% consists of trabecular bone, also called cancellous or spongy bone due to its bony interconnecting structure that resembles a sponge. This structure is less dense than that of cortical bone, and provides a larger surface area that can be exposed to circulating fluids within the marrow. As a result of this structure, trabecular bone, which is located in the ends of long bones, wrists, vertebrae, hips, and scapulas, is more susceptible to the lack of nutrients and hormones as a person ages, and is responsible for the majority of fractures in the elderly (Anderson 2000).

Bone Resorption

Bone undergoes a remodeling process in which tissue is continuously resorbed and formed to grow, repair, and adapt to new external strains placed on the skeleton (Anderson 2000). Current research indicates that approximately 20% of trabecular bone is continually in the remodeling process (Raff & Shaker 2003). Three types of cells are primarily responsible for bone formation and resorption. Osteocytes actually begin as osteoblast cells, but become calcified as they are trapped within the forming protein matrix and are eventually buried deep within the mineralized bone. These cells continue to communicate with other bone cells to encourage the formation and resorption process (Anderson 2000). Osteoclasts are primarily responsible for bone resorption. Cytokines such as interleukin-1 activate pre-osteoclastic cells located within bone marrow. These cells migrate to the surface of bone where they mature and secrete enzymes that reduce bone pH and dissolve the mineral components (Anderson 2000). Osteoblasts then form bone through the synthesis of matrix proteins and communication via cytokine secretions that act on osteoclast cells (Anderson 2000).

Bone Formation

Following the resorption of bone tissue, osteoblasts migrate to the exposed area and secrete type I collagen along with other matrix proteins. The collagen polymerizes to form new fibers, where calcium and phosphate salts eventually precipitate and develop into hydroxyapatite crystals (Anderson 2000). Whereas bone resorption can be completed in a few days, formation may take as long as 3 – 6 months, or longer in the elderly (Anderson 2000). Due to calcium homeostasis, young healthy adults have a "zero balance" for bone mass in which overall resorption and formation are equivalent. In elderly individuals and young adults with nutritional or hormonal imbalances, increased trabecular resorption can occur without adequate formation, resulting in poor calcium homeostasis and bone loss (Anderson 2000).

Calcium Homeostasis

Ninety-nine percent of the body's calcium is located within the hydroxyapatite structure of the skeleton; the remaining 1% is used for on-going life processes (Anderson et al. 2000, Volpe 1999, Yucha & Guthrie 2003). The body has a set serum calcium concentration of approximately 10 mg/dl or 2.5 mmol/L (Anderson 2000). Tight control is maintained over this serum calcium concentration, as an elevated level can result in hypercalcemia with symptoms of fatigue, cardiac arrhythmias, nausea, and constipation. In addition, hypercalcemia can contribute to the development of kidney stones when excess calcium carbonate is deposited in the body's soft tissues (Yucha & Guthrie 2003). Conversely, an inadequate serum calcium concentration, or hypocalcemia, promotes increased passage of sodium ions through the cell membrane, resulting in intestinal

cramping and tetany, or painful muscle spasms (Anderson 2000, Yucha & Guthrie 2003).

Respiratory failure may also occur with severe hypocalcemia (Yucha & Guthrie 2003).

In order to maintain calcium homeostasis, the body relies on multiple organ systems and hormones (Volpe 1999, Yucha & Guthrie 2003). Homeostasis is aided by parathyroid hormone (PTH) and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, known as calcitrol. These hormones exert influence over the gastrointestinal, renal, and skeletal systems to either increase or decrease the serum calcium concentration. Parathyroid hormone is secreted by the parathyroid glands in response to changes in the extracellular calcium concentration (Yucha & Guthrie 2003). If dietary intake is inadequate to support a normal serum calcium concentration, the body will mobilize calcium ions from bone marrow or from skeletal tissue itself via osteoclasts. Low dietary calcium intake can increase levels of PTH in circulation, which in turn signals osteoclasts to participate in bone resorption to restore the serum calcium concentration (Anderson 2000, Bronner & Stein 1992).

Parathyroid hormone also promotes renal reabsorption of calcium into the portal system, thereby decreasing urinary calcium excretion (Yucha & Guthrie 2003).

In the absence of a sub-optimal serum calcium level, PTH will stimulate the production of calcitrol (Anderson 2000). Calcitrol is formed within the kidney using both orally ingested vitamin D and vitamin D3, or cholecalciferol, which is formed by a cascade of metabolic reactions beginning with the exposure of 7-dehydrocholesterol in the skin to ultraviolet radiation (Holick 1996, Yucha & Guthrie 2003). Calcitrol normally acts within the lower half of the small intestine to increase efficiency of calcium absorption if dietary intake is inadequate, while simultaneously stimulating renal reabsorption of calcium (Anderson 2000, Holick 1996, Yucha & Guthrie 2003).

Unfortunately, this system has been found to be less effective in postmenopausal women and cannot provide sufficient calcium to prevent bone resorption from exceeding bone formation in the postmenopausal years (Ebeling et al. 1992).

Conversely, once the body enters a state of hypercalcemia the thyroid gland will secrete calcitonin, a hormone that inhibits osteoclastic cell activity and stimulates increased renal urinary calcium excretion. With calcitonin release, PTH secretion is significantly reduced, which also promotes increased urinary calcium excretion and inhibits bone resorption (Anderson 2000, Yucha & Guthrie 2003). The regulation of the gastrointestinal, renal, and skeletal systems by PTH, calcitrol, and calcitonin allows the body to maintain calcium homeostasis in healthy individuals by adjusting to even minor deviations in nutritional intake and serum calcium concentration. This strict control allows the body to build peak bone mass and works to maintain BMD levels over time, thereby preventing or delaying the onset of primary osteoporosis.

Types of Osteoporosis

Two types of osteoporosis can be diagnosed in the individual: primary or secondary (Anderson 2000). Primary osteoporosis can occur in women who are postmenopausal, or in both sexes along with the aging process. Postmenopausal women experience a decline in estrogen production that contributes to decreased levels of trabecular bone tissue. This decline results in an increased risk of distal radius and vertebral fractures, as well as hip fractures (Anderson 2000, Caplan et al. 1994). Women who have undergone menopause prior to age 45 years are at a significantly higher risk for vertebral fractures (Caplan et al. 1994). It has been proposed that sex hormones also play

a role in the development of osteoporosis in men, with estradiol (estrogen) serving as the primary hormonal control for bone resorption (Falahati-Nini et al. 2000).

Age-related osteoporosis can occur in men and women over 65 years of age (Anderson 2000). The condition is influenced by a Caucasian or Asian ethnicity, an individual's history of smoking, low body weight, physical inactivity, poor dietary habits, and alcohol consumption (Compston 1992). Increased bone resorption and decreased formation is noted in both trabecular and cortical bone, but imbalanced bone remodeling primarily affects trabecular bone, leading to an increased number of hip and vertebral fractures. These fractures can occur as a result of trauma from a fall or from attempted completion of activities of daily living (ADL) (Anderson 2000).

Secondary osteoporosis occurs when low bone mineral density is present due to the use of certain medications or presence of disease (Anderson 2000, Baillie et al. 1992, Caplan et al. 1994, Mondy et al. 2003). Epidemiological studies indicate that as many as 54% of men and 30% of women with vertebral fractures have secondary osteoporosis as a cause, although osteoporosis itself may never have been diagnosed (Baillie et al. 1992, Caplan et al. 1994). Diseases and medications that have been shown to contribute to low BMD are included in Table 1 (Anderson 2000, Harrison et al. 2002, Klaus et al. 2002, Mondy et al. 2003, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998, Royal College of Physicians 1999). Often, the pathophysiology relating the underlying disease to osteoporosis is poorly defined and available treatments have not been studied in these populations (Harrison et al. 2002, Klaus et al. 2002, Mondy et al. 2003). For example, low BMD has been identified in as many as 46% of human immunodeficiency virus – positive adults (Miller et al. 2002, Mondy et al. 2003). However, research indicates that osteopenia or

Table 1

Risk Factors in Secondary Osteoporosis

Aluminum-containing antacids Anticoagulants
Anticoagulants
Anticonvulsants
Corticosteroids (high doses)
Lithium
Thyroxine (high doses)

osteoporosis is caused more by lifestyle factors and the disease process itself than the anti-retroviral medications used to treat this disease (Mondy et al. 2003). Similarly, patients with rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease experience higher rates of osteoporosis than the general population, but etiologies other than nutrient malabsorption, such as medication effects, have not been fully explored (Harrison et al. 2002, Klaus et al. 2002). Clinicians must take care to monitor the lifestyle habits of patients diagnosed with risk factors for secondary osteoporosis and refer these persons for further evaluation if necessary.

Dietary Intake and Bone Mineral Density

Multiple nutrients are essential for the development of adequate BMD. Evidence suggests that dietary intake early in life does affect BMD levels later in life (Kalkwarf et al. 2003, Nowak et al. 2002). Even in studies where heredity is found to play a significant role in bone development, researchers acknowledge that part of this influence is due to lifestyle factors, such as diet and physical activity, which are shared among family members (Runyan et al. 2003). Bonjour and colleagues (1991) observed that when 149 prepubertal girls consumed foods rich in calcium over a 1 – year period, they experienced significantly increased bone mass at the hip and radial sites. When 28 adolescent boys involved in resistance training were provided with three daily servings of either low-fat milk with calcium or juice without calcium, those boys receiving the additional calcium had significantly greater increases in total body BMD than the boys using resistance training alone (Volek et al. 2003). These effects can continue well into adulthood. Data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) reveals that low milk consumption during childhood and adolescence is

associated with a lower peak bone mass and increased fracture risk in adults (Kalkwarf et al. 2003). Unfortunately, adolescent girls tend to consume few dairy products as they age (Nowak et al. 2002, Runyan et al. 2003), and by early adulthood, over 50% of adults consume less than one serving of milk daily (Klesges et al. 1999). Although dairy products that contain calcium and vitamin D are most often promoted as bone building nutrients, various other dietary habits can also affect BMD levels (Macdonald et al. 2004, New et al. 1997). Research indicates that increased fruit and vegetable consumption has a positive effect on bone attainment and maintenance, possibly by contributing to lower urinary calcium excretion and lower PTH levels (Macdonald et al. 2004, New et al. 2000, Tucker et al. 2002, Tylavsky et al. 2004). These studies highlight the importance of bone building activities in youth and early adulthood to prevent or delay the onset of osteoporosis later in life. A review of those nutrients that affect bone development is necessary to comprehend the impact that a healthful diet can have on BMD, regardless of gender or ethnicity.

Calcium and Bone

The human skeleton acts as a repository for approximately 99% of body calcium (Anderson, 2000); thus, calcium acquisition is hypothesized to play an important role in the development and maintenance of bone. As previously discussed, consumption of foods containing calcium is an integral part of reaching peak bone mass (Bonjour et al. 1991, Kalkwarf et al. 2003, Volek et al. 2003). Calcium absorption occurs via active transport in the duodenum (Pansu et al.1983) as calcium ions are transported through calcium channels across the brush border membrane (Bronner 1997). Inside the cell, calcium is bound to calbindin, a calcium-binding protein that is dependent on vitamin D,

and transported to the basolateral cell surface (Bronner & Pansu 1999, Pansu et al. 1983). Here, the calbindin-bound calcium is pumped out of the cell against the electrochemical gradient via an ATP-dependent calcium pump (Bronner & Pansu 1999). Calcium absorption also takes place via passive transport in the ileum and jejunum, with the majority of absorption occurring in the ileum (Bronner & Pansu 1999, Pansu et al. 1983). Approximately 10% or less of calcium is absorbed through active transport in the colon (Bronner & Pansu 1999).

The type of transport utilized is determined primarily by the amount of dietary calcium presented in the intestine. When intake provides at least 800 mg/d of calcium, passive transport is the preferred method of absorption (Pansu et al. 1983), with bioavailability of calcium from individual food sources being inconsequential to absorption (Deroisy et al. 1997). However, if dietary intake falls below 800 mg/d and bioavailability from foods remains low, active transport mechanisms are utilized (Bronner & Pansu 1999).

Calcium bioavailability – the degree to which calcium is available for absorption and use – is impeded with elevated dietary intake of oxalate and dietary fiber (Anderson 2000, Weaver et al. 1991). Foods with superior calcium bioavailability, such as dairy products, broccoli, and soybeans are promoted for consumption (Anderson 2000). Calcium needs are increased during adolescence, old age, and pregnancy compared to adulthood (Food and Nutrition Board 1999, Yasumizu et al. 1998) and adequate intake is necessary for normal absorption via passive transport in the ileum (Bronner & Pansu 1999). Adequate Intake (AI) levels of 1,000 mg/d for men and women ages 20 – 40 years have been established to aid the public in consuming sufficent amounts of calcium

at various stages of the life cycle (Food and Nutrition Board, 1999). Calcium absorption is also enhanced or inhibited by intake of various other nutrients, some of which are discussed below.

Vitamin D and Bone

Adequate calcium absorption is dependent on the presence of vitamin D (Pansu et al. 1983). Vitamin D is required for biosynthesis of calbindin (Perret et al. 1988), which aids calcium absorption via active transport in the intestine (Bronner & Pansu 1999, Holick 1996, Pansu et al. 1983). Studies have shown associations among vitamin D deficiency, hyperparathyroidism, and increased bone resorption in women of all ages (Cheng et al. 2003, Oomes et al. 1995). These findings are particularly relevant for children and young adults who may not achieve optimal peak BMD without adequate vitamin D, regardless of calcium intake.

Although it is possible to obtain vitamin D through both diet and sunlight exposure, many people with inadequate dietary intake do not spend enough time in the sun to compensate for the lack of oral intake (Anderson 2000). Studies conducted among European children and adolescents indicate that large numbers of youth are currently vitamin D deficient (Crocombe & Mughal 2004, Lehtonen – Veromaa et al. 2002). Moreover, elderly persons who do not participate in outdoor activities and have decreased caloric intakes typically do not receive extended sunlight exposure or adequate dietary vitamin D (Anderson 2000), which further inhibits bone maintenance. Increased intake of vitamin D food sources that meets the adequate intake (AI) of 5 ug/d in men and women ages 20 – 40 years is encouraged; however, studies also reveal that combinations

of calcium and vitamin D supplements are also effective in promoting bone health (Anderson 2000, Food and Nutrition Board 1999).

Phosphorous and Bone

Phosphorous is an essential component of the hydroxyapatite crystals that form the main structure of bone (Anderson 2000), and is therefore essential for bone formation and maintenance. Adequate intake for adults age 20 – 40 years is 700 mg/d (Food and Nutrition Board 1999). Low serum phosphate levels can increase urinary calcium excretion and rates of bone resportion (Raisz & Niemann 1969); thus, supplementation along with calcium intake should be considered in persons with hypophosphatemia (Heaney 2004). However, due to the increased consumption of foods such as carbonated beverages and processed foods with high levels of phosphorus and poor calcium availability, overconsumption of phosphorous has become a more critical issue in Western countries (Calvo & Park, 1996). Excess dietary phosphorus above the established upper limit (UL) of 4,000 mg/d interferes with calcium homeostasis by decreasing the ionized calcium concentration in blood, which in turns stimulates PTH secretion and accelerates bone resorption (Anderson 2000, Calvo & Park 1996, Food and Nutrition Board 1999). Care must be taken to balance calcium and phosphorous intakes through the reduction of highly processed foods so as to promote optimal bone growth. Although the current recommended calcium to phosphorous ratio is 1:1, adverse effects on BMD have not been noted with slightly higher phosphorous intakes (Heaney 2004). Zinc and Bone

Zinc is an additional component of bone structure and is essential for osteoblastic activity (Anderson 2000), with approximately 1.5 - 2.5 grams found in the body (Volpe

1999). Zinc absorption occurs in the small intestine, but can be affected by intake of other dietary components. It is recommended that men ages 20 – 40 years consume 11 mg/d of zinc, while the AI for women of similar age is 8 mg/d. Concurrent intake of dietary protein has been found to enhance zinc absorption (Anderson 2000), whereas elevated intakes of fiber, copper, iron, phytates, and calcium inhibit zinc absorption (Anderson 2000, Wood & Zheng 1997). A diet that meets the recommended intakes for both zinc and calcium can be beneficial for bone health; however, a diet high in zinc and low in calcium has been shown in animals to contribute to compromised bone structure (Kawamura et al. 2000). Therefore, a diet high in zinc should only be considered when dietary calcium levels are adequate.

Magnesium and Bone

Another component of hydroxyapatite is magnesium. Over 50% of the 21 – 28 gm of total body magnesium is located within bone (Wang et al. 1994). While the complete role of this mineral in bone development is not fully understood (Anderson 2000), it is recognized that magnesium aids in the regulation of calcitonin and PTH, thereby influencing calcium homeostasis (Zofkova & Kancheva 1995). Moreover, magnesium absorption occurs in the small intestine via a pathway similar to that of calcium absorption (Anderson 2000), and excessive intake of either nutrient can adversely affect absorption of the other. Rude and colleagues (2004) demonstrated that, in rats, a 10% reduction in dietary magnesium below the nutritional requirement resulted in a 51% reduction of magnesium bone levels. A significant increase in bone resorption was also noted (Rude et al. 2004). As it is possible that as much as 6.9% of the general population (Wang et al. 1994) and 20% of the African-American population (Fox et al.

1999) is hypomagnesemic, this imbalance could impair normal bone development. Although the exact calcium:magnesium ratio needed for optimal bone growth has yet to be determined, it is recognized that magnesium intake in adolescents equivalent to the recommended dietary allowance (RDA) for teenage girls and boys is adequate for proper bone growth regardless of the amount of calcium consumed (Andon et al. 1996). Additionally, adequate Intake levels are established for adults, with recommended consumption at 400 mg/d for men ages 20 – 30 years, 420 mg/d for men ages 31 – 40 years, 310 mg/d for women ages 20 – 30 years, and 320 mg/d for women ages 31 – 40 years (Food and Nutrition Board, 1999).

Sodium, Fat, Protein and Bone

While the intake of minerals that contribute to skeletal structure is crucial for bone health (Anderson 2000, Calvo & Park 1996, Kalkwarf et al. 2003, Volek et al. 2003, Zofkova & Kancheva 1995), additional nutrients also influence the growth and maintenance of bone. Dietary intakes of sodium, fat, and protein in the United States usually exceed recommended levels (Kennedy et al. 1999). Urinary calcium excretion is typically elevated in individuals with high dietary sodium intakes (Jones et al. 1997, Matakovic et al. 1995). Reduction of dietary sodium to less than 2 gm/d along with a diet rich in fruits and vegetables has been shown to reduce rates of bone resorption (Lin et al. 2003, Macdonald et al. 2004) to levels that are equivalent to increasing dietary calcium intake by 891 mg/d (Devine et al. 1995). Furthermore, calcium absorption itself may be inhibited by a high dietary fat intake, as the fat can bind with calcium to form calcium soaps that pass through the body unabsorbed (Bronner & Pansu 1999).

While plausible relationships between sodium and fat intakes and bone resorption have been established (Bronner & Pansu 1999, Jones et al. 1997), research regarding protein intake and bone is inconclusive. A diet high in protein without adequate calcium intake can contribute to increased rates of urinary calcium excretion (Kerstetter & Allen, 1990); however, dietary protein intake at or below the recommended level of 0.8 gm/kg has been associated with decreased intestinal calcium absorption and secondary hyperparathyroidism (Kerstetter et al. 2003). Moreover, inadequate intake of protein and the resulting hypoalbuminemia often seen in young girls and elderly persons highlights the importance of avoiding strict dietary limitations on protein (Anderson 2000).

Fiber and Bone

Currently, the typical American diet falls well below recommended dietary fiber intakes of 38 gm/d for men and 25 gm/d for women (Food and Nutrition Board 2002, Hendricks & Herbold, 1998). Although it is possible for fiber to inhibit intestinal calcium absorption at intakes of 40 – 50 gm or higher, most Americans do not reach this level of consumption (Anderson 2000). Vegans have been observed to obtain higher levels of fiber intake; however, the overall effects of fiber on calcium absorption are minimal and most Americans should be encouraged to increase consumption of fiber-rich foods such as fruit and vegetables (Anderson 2000, Macdonald et al. 2004, Tucker et al. 2002, Tylavsky et al. 2004) for their other nutrients beneficial to skeletal health.

Phytoestrogens and Bone

Evidence suggests that phytoestrogens, such as soy isoflavones, could be bone protective (Anderson 2000). It has been proposed that the Japanese, who consume less dairy calcium than other populations, may decrease bone resorption rates through high

soy intake (Anderson 2000). In addition, postmenopausal women consuming isoflavone supplements exhibited significantly reduced bone resorption compared to similarly – aged controls (Atkinson et al. 2004). These initial results were tempered by research indicating that while improved estrogen levels were observed in women consuming soy and flaxseed-containing foods, these foods did not significantly decrease bone resorption (Brooks et al. 2004). To date, no recommended levels have been established for phytoestrogen intake, and additional research is needed to determine if these foods are in fact beneficial for bone maintenance.

Multiple nutrients play a role in the development and maintenance of bone throughout the life cycle, although the exact roles that many of these nutrients play remain unclear. Consumers who are aware of which foods promote or inhibit bone turnover are much more likely to lower their risks of developing osteoporosis.

Unfortunately, as today's society focuses on weight loss through dieting, consumers frequently receive conflicting dietary information from a variety of sources (Nickols-Richardson et al. 2002). Health educators can provide accurate nutritional advice to these consumers and educate them concerning the importance of osteoporosis prevention. It is necessary to measure the current level of bone health knowledge among consumers and health educators, and to relate this knowledge to the actual practices of education and prevention strategies for osteoporosis.

Healthcare Provider and Consumer Awareness of Prevention Strategies

Despite a lack of strict guidelines for BMD testing, physicians and other healthcare professionals do have multiple general guidelines for identifying those persons at risk for primary or secondary osteoporosis and for educating and treating such

individuals ("Assessment of fracture risk..." 1994, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998, "Position of the American..." 1999). Researchers also continue to develop prevention strategies to use with minority groups who may not have received prior physician follow-up (Larkey et al. 2003, Orces et al. 2003).

Physician Awareness

As osteoporosis places such a significant burden on the healthcare system, one would expect that healthcare professionals are actively identifying those persons that would benefit from preventive treatment. However, recent studies indicate that even after a fracture, elderly persons do not receive adequate dietary recommendations or follow-up treatment for low bone mass (Kiebzak et al. 2002, Miller et al. 2001, Schrager et al. 1999). One chart review revealed that only 35% of women over age 50 years had documented reviews of osteoporosis risk by their physicians in their medical charts (Schrager et al. 1999). Kiebzak and colleagues (2002) reviewed the medical charts of 363 persons over the age of 50 years hospitalized for hip fractures not caused by high-energy trauma or related to a pathologic condition. The study included 110 men and 253 women. The original intent of the study was to evaluate whether men received less treatment for osteoporosis than women; however, study results indicated that both men and women were under-treated for the disease. At the time of hospital discharge, only 4.5% of men and 27% of women received some form of treatment for osteoporosis (Kiebzak et al. 2002), although the majority of these women had been on treatment prior to hospitalization. A 1-5 year follow-up of 168 of the surviving subjects revealed that 27%, or 12 of 44 men were receiving osteoporosis treatment, most of which involved calcium and vitamin D supplementation. Of 124 female subjects, 71% were on treatment

regimens. During this time, only 11% of men and 27% of women reported having any type of bone density measurement, despite a history of previous fracture.

It has been suggested that although osteoporosis diagnosis in not typically an immediate concern in an acute care setting, it is a condition that can be addressed and tested in subsequent follow-up visits with a primary care physician (Kiebzak et al. 2002). The results of Kiebzak and colleagues' (2002) study suggest a lack of physician awareness of the need to identify and treat those individuals at high risk for developing osteoporosis. As the above study subjects were elderly, it becomes questionable if healthcare professionals are aggressively identifying those younger men and women who present with risk factors for primary or secondary osteoporosis. Physicians also provide less diagnostic and preventive care for African-American females over the age of 50 years when compared to their white counterparts, even when the African-American women had experienced previous fractures (Mudano et al. 2003). These findings suggest a need for increased physician awareness and the need for osteoporosis prevention to begin early in life. In addition, individuals other than elderly white women are at risk for developing this condition as they age. Osteoporosis is a disease that must be prevented in youth by attaining and maintaining peak bone mass; therefore, educational strategies for prevention are crucial for children, men, and premenopausal women.

Prevention Education

Information on the numbers of premenopausal and postmenopausal women who receive information about osteoporosis from their primary care physician is limited. One telephone survey of 505 women between the ages of 18 – 65 years found that only 44% could recall having a discussion with a healthcare provider about bone density or calcium

intake (Opinion Research Corporation International 1996). A review of family practice clinics utilized patient interviews immediately following an annual health maintenance examination to determine the level of physician education for bone density issues (Schrager et al. 2000). Four hundred forty-nine females aged 18 – 65 years were asked after an annual examination if the physician had discussed osteoporosis or calcium intake during the visit. Approximately 33% of women under the age of 40 years reported having such a discussion, whereas the proportions increased to 50% for women over age 40 years and 60% for women aged 50 – 60 years. Regression analysis indicated that women under the age of 50 years were less likely to have discussions regarding osteoporosis prevention than their older counterparts. Further analysis revealed that female providers were significantly more likely to provide bone density information than their male counterparts (P = 0.004). A chart review was not completed to confirm patient recalls (Schrager et al. 2000).

Additional analysis of 138 women aged 25 years and over who had previously received BMD results was conducted by Nickols-Richardson and colleagues (2002) to determine what, if any, actions these women took after receipt of test results.

Approximately 62% of these women reported sharing their results with a health professional, with 80% of these respondents reporting data directly to their primary care physicians. Of those women with low BMD, only 25% were advised by their physicians to undergo additional testing to identify a secondary cause for low bone mass. Similarly, only 40% of participants with low BMD who shared the results with a health professional received advice for dietary and lifestyle changes (Nickols-Richardson et al. 2002). While the advice did include encouragement to increase calcium intake and vitamin D

supplement use, as well as to increase general physical activity, no participants received information regarding effects of dietary caffeine, salt, or alcohol intake on bone. None were encouraged to consume food sources of vitamin D or to engage in lifestyle factors to improve bone density, such as specific bone-building exercises or smoking cessation (Nickols-Richardson et al. 2002). Results from the above follow-up study suggest that healthcare professionals need to become more aware of lifestyle factors women can implement to improve BMD, and that these professionals need to develop appropriate referral services if additional testing or counseling are warranted.

While rates of osteoporosis discussion appear to increase as patients age, it is important that young females also receive prevention information, as this is the time during which bone mass can be improved and maintained. Data indicate that young women are less likely than their older counterparts to have these discussions or to implement lifestyle changes, such as exercise, after learning that they have low BMD levels (Nickols-Richardson et al. 2002, Schrager et al. 2000). The study by Schrager and colleagues (2000) did use recall information from only one visit, possibly resulting in biased results if providers had discussed osteoporosis with the woman at a previous visit. However, the results clearly highlight the need for healthcare providers to increase awareness of the benefits of osteoporosis prevention in a young, premenopausal population, particularly in minority groups who may or may not have received information on osteoporosis prevention prior to the physician visit.

Consumer Awareness

Today's consumers are faced with a multitude of information regarding health, which may or may not be accurate. The general population requires adequate knowledge

of osteoporosis risk factors and prevention strategies if they are to proactively improve their bone density status before the age of 50 years, or prior to menopause for women. Currently, the most often used sources of information for osteoporosis by women include internet sites, pamphlets, health newsletters, and books (Nickols-Richardson et al. 2002). Each of these sources represents an opportunity for involvement by healthcare professionals.

Larkey and colleagues (2003) used phone surveys to evaluate osteoporosis prevention knowledge in an ethnically diverse population of 200 females aged 25-55years. The sample was comprised of 43 (21.5%) Hispanics, 11 (5.5%) African-Americans, 2 (1%) American Indians, and 20 (10%) subjects classified as "other". Respondents provided answers to questions regarding modifiable risk factors such as dietary intake, weight-bearing exercise, and smoking. They also stated if they had ever undergone bone density testing or used hormone replacement therapy. Results indicated that while 77% of women claimed to understand what osteoporosis was, only 58.5% actually provided a correct answer. Women of all ages were also unaware of the relationship between osteoporosis prevention and weight-bearing exercise. Although 73% of participants agreed that resistance training could improve bone mass, another 43% felt that "daily light activities" prevented osteoporosis, while 9% felt that walking could significantly improve bone mass. Approximately 62% of the participants who claimed to engage in physical activity also cited walking as their main form of exercise (Larkey et al. 2003).

Analysis of food frequency questionnaires revealed that study participants consumed an average of 4.3 - 5 servings of calcium rich foods daily, but that Hispanic

females were more likely to obtain calcium from beans and corn tortillas as opposed to non-Hispanics who had slightly higher milk consumption at 1.8 versus 1.3 servings daily (Larkey et al. 2003). The study was limited in that a possible bias with phone interviews and participant recalls could somewhat affect results, but the overall results provided valuable insight into osteoporosis knowledge of pre- and perimenopausal women. These women need information concerning good calcium sources that are culturally appropriate and exercises that can effectively improve or maintain bone mass.

There is a growing body of evidence that physicians and consumers are unaware of the importance of osteoporosis prevention and treatment throughout the life cycle (Kiebzak et al. 2002, Larkey et al. 2003, Mudano et al. 2003, Schrager et al. 1999), although consumers are often willing to initiate positive lifestyle changes when notified of their bone density status (Nickols-Richardson et al. 2002). Surveys designed to identify those younger adults with a high risk of developing osteoporosis later in life can assist healthcare professionals in determining which individuals need additional counseling and osteoporosis prevention education.

Osteoporosis Risk Detection

In recent years, technology has allowed clinicians to detect low BMD using a variety of methods (Johnston et al. 1991). Unfortunately, those methods that are most accurate and successful can be too cost-prohibitive to warrant universal BMD screening ("Analysis of the effectiveness..." 1998). Although there are no official rules stating who should undergo screening, many organizations and researchers have proposed guidelines and surveys designed to detect which older women are at high risk for developing osteoporosis ("Assessment of fracture risk..." 1994, Cadarette et al. 2000,

Cadarette et al. 2001, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998, Weinstein & Ullery 2000). Surveys that have been validated in postmenopausal women use BMD measurements from dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) as the standard to evaluate each tool's effectiveness (Cadarette et al. 2000, Cadarette et al. 2001, Lydick et al. 1998, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998, Weinstein & Ullery 2000). A review of the current validated surveys and BMD measurement methods is presented.

Survey Tools

Several survey tools and guidelines, also known as decision rules, have been developed to facilitate the identification of those individuals who are at an increased risk for low BMD ("Assessment of fracture risk..." 1994, Cadarette et al. 2000, Cadarette et al. 2001, Lydick et al. 1998, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998, Weinstein & Ullery 2000). Evaluations of some decision rules have found them to have poor sensitivity or to be too difficult to implement in clinical practice; however, other guidelines have higher levels of sensitivity and specificity in certain populations (Cadarette et al. 2001, Sedrine et al. 2002). The majority of currently available surveys are validated only in postmenopausal women. The National Osteoporosis Foundation's guidelines for physicians rely on clinical trial data to provide decision rules for DXA testing in postmenopausal white females (National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998). The guidelines recommend DXA testing only in those postmenopausal women over 65 years of age with risk factors who are considering treatment to increase bone mass. They also acknowledge that women under the age of 65 years with additional risk factors other than menopause could benefit from BMD testing. Risk factors include a personal or family history of bone fracture, an age over 65 years, a weight less than 57.6 kilograms (kg), and current smoking status. The guidelines also state that due to a lack of research available for rules regarding men, premenopausal women, and non-caucasian women, these groups should follow universal prevention guidelines regarding diet and physical activity, and do not provide recommendations for DXA screening in these populations (National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998).

A survey tool for low BMD detection was developed by evaluating questionnaires completed for 1,279 postmenopausal women at 106 participating health centers (Lydick et al. 1998). Using a regression model, investigators designed the Simple Calculated Osteoporosis Risk Estimation (SCORE) tool. The decision rule risk factors included ethnicity, estrogen use, history of rheumatoid arthritis, fracture history, an age over 65 years, and a weight criterion of -1 times the weight in pounds divided by ten. The SCORE tool was then validated in a cohort of 207 postmenopausal women, resulting in a sensitivity of 91% and a specificity of 40%. This means that 91% of women with low bone mass were selected for further examination, and 40% of women with normal BMD levels were not selected for further examination. Researchers concluded that the survey was a cost-effective method to detect low BMD in post-menopausal females (Lydick et al. 1998). Subsequent attempts to verify the instrument's specificity levels indicated that the tool was not cost-effective, as it selected a large number of women with normal BMD levels for DXA testing (Cadarette et al. 1999, Von Muhlen et al. 1999). The tool was tested using a cohort of postmenopausal women and was not validated for use in men or premenopausal women.

An additional BMD decision rule was validated as a part of the Canadian MultiCentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos) (Cadarette et al. 2000). All eligible women

aged 45 years and older gave extensive information concerning past medical histories and lifestyle information, then underwent DXA testing at the hip and lumbar spine. Two-thirds, or 926, test subjects were used to develop the survey, and the remaining one-third, or 450, subjects were tested for its validation. A T-score of -2 was used as a reference point for high osteoporosis risk. Logistic regression analysis determined which risk factors correlated significantly with low BMD, while area under the receiver operating characteristics curves (AUROC) were used to validate those items (Cadarette et al. 2000).

Researchers determined that the indicators contributing to the highest degrees of sensitivity and specificity were age, weight, and current estrogen use. The survey was titled the Osteoporosis Risk Assessment Instrument (ORAI). The final tool did select 43% of women with normal BMD values for DXA testing during the validation phase (Cadarette et al. 2000). It also did not address any recommendations for follow-up treatment with a physician if the survey result indicated a high osteoporosis risk. It was unclear if the instrument could be applied to men or premenopausal women younger than 45 years of age.

Investigators have made attempts to validate survey tools in Asian women (Koh et al. 2001). The Osteoporosis Self-Assessment Screening Tool (OST) was developed based on univariate model analysis of 12 potential risk factors for osteoporosis in postmenopausal women, including age, weight, height, race, fracture history, age at menopause, medication use, calcium intake, rheumatoid arthritis, smoking history, physical activity, and sunlight exposure. A total of 860 Asian women provided risk factor information and DXA measurements at the hip. Based on DXA results and multiple variable models researchers concluded that using only age and weight in the

survey produced a decision rule with 91% sensitivity and 45% specificity (Koh et al. 2001). The ORAI and SCORE were also evaluated in the women with sensitivity and specificity scores of 84% and 52% for ORAI and 90% and 33% for SCORE.

The OST performed equally well with the ORAI and SCORE in detecting post-menopausal Asian women with low BMD. Adler and colleagues (2003) also validated the survey tool in a cohort of 181 male veterans with an average age of 64.3 years at a sensitivity level of 93% and specificity level of 66%. While the OST was effective as a screening tool for postmenopausal women and elderly men, it has not been validated for use in premenopausal women and younger men (Adler et al. 2003, Koh et al. 2001). Its applicability in these populations is questionable as those with a younger age would have a higher OST index and not be recommended for bone density intervention, regardless of actual weight or dietary intake.

Researchers participating in the CaMos studies evaluated four decision rules and the National Osteoporosis Foundation (NOF) guidelines for referring women for DXA testing, including two of the above mentioned methods (Cadarette et al. 2001). To evaluate the four methods – SCORE, ORAI, Age, Body Size, No Estrogen (ABONE), and body weight less than 70 kg (weight criterion) – researchers evaluated 2,365 women over 45 years of age without bone disease. The women underwent DXA testing at the femoral neck, after which actual results were compared with the survey recommendations and NOF guidelines. A T-score of -2 was used for treatment threshold, and AUROC curves were used to evaluate the effectiveness of each decision rule (Cadarette et al. 2001).

Study authors revealed that the ORAI, SCORE, and NOF guidelines all selected over 94% of women with a T-score less than -2 for testing and 96% of subjects with clinical osteoporosis, or a T-score less than -2.5. The ORAI selected 56% of women with normal BMD levels for DXA testing, whereas the SCORE and NOF rules selected 69% and 74%, respectively. Researchers determine that the ORAI decision rule was the most efficient and effective tool for detecting low BMD in elderly women, while SCORE and NOF guidelines were also effective but not as efficient (Cadarette et al. 2001). A comparison of the various survey tools is presented in Table 2 (Adler et al. 2003, Cadarette et al. 2001, Koh et al. 2001).

The study authors did acknowledge that there was a possible volunteer bias, with those adults most concerned with bone health agreeing to participate. There was also significant over – sampling of the older population, limiting the study's application to younger or male populations and possibly giving those surveys that placed greater emphasis on age an advantage. Further study was warranted to evaluate the practicality of using each decision rule in clinical practice (Cadarette et al. 2001), and to determine if any of the tools could be used effectively in a younger population. In order to validate the above surveys in such a cohort, it would be necessary to evaluate DXA measurements of BMD and bone mineral content (BMC) to determine if the specificity and sensitivity r ates among the young population were comparable to those of elderly women.

Bone Mineral Density Testing

A variety of methods currently exists to measure BMD, including quantitative computed tomography, ultrasound of the calcaneous and knee areas, and DXA

Table 2

Comparison of Survey Tools Used to Detect Low BMD in Women and Men

Test	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUROC
NOF	96.2%	17.8%	0.70
SCORE	99.6%	17.9%	0.80
ORAI	97.5%	27.8%	0.79
OST (women)	91%	45%	N/A*
OST (men)	93%	66%	0.836

N/A = not applicable: information not provided

(Johnston et al. 1991). These methods allow investigators to monitor bone mineral changes in the individual over time. They are also suitable for population screening atlarge. Multiple bone mineral measurements allow health professionals to monitor treatment effectiveness in individuals after initial identification of low bone mass, although certain types of measures are more precise than others.

While ultrasound measurements are beneficial for large-scale screening within the population, DXA is considered the preferred method of bone density measurement as it provides greater accuracy than the aforementioned methods. The DXA machine has the ability to measure both bone mineral content (BMC) and BMD while also providing an analysis of soft tissue composition (Madsen et al. 1997). Two separate wavelengths of photons emanate from the machine, which provides it with the ability to distinguish between tissue types. Such precision in measuring also enables the individual to receive site-specific bone measurements of the spine, hip, and wrist (Cummings & Black 1995, Johnston et al. 1991, Rizzoli et al. 1995, Shagam 2003). Portable DXA machines, or pDXA, are available to measure peripheral skeletal sites (Shagam 2003). Due to the status of DXA as the "gold standard" for BMD testing, researchers have relied on it in published literature to validate survey tools designed to distinguish between those individuals who warrant BMD testing versus those who have adequate bone mass ("Assessment of fracture risk..." 1994, Cadarette et al. 2000, Cadarette et al. 2001, Lydick et al. 1998, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998, Weinstein & Ullery 2000). While this method does not provide information concerning the quality of bone, it is the best clinical indicator of overall bone mass, and would be the preferred method in clinical practice to establish a diagnosis of low bone density if a survey tool indicated the presence of osteopenia or osteoporosis.

Summary

Osteoporosis is a debilitating bone disease that can be caused by a multitude of lifestyle and metabolic factors. The most effective treatment for osteoporosis remains prevention in adolescents and young adults. Current medications that treat the disease can minimize bone loss, but do not adequately assist with building bone mass. It is therefore imperative that young adults be aware of their risk factors for osteoporosis and which prevention strategies are most effective for them. Research concerning the prevalence of low BMD in young adults is limited. Currently, healthcare professionals do not have access to validated survey tools that could identify young adults in need of osteoporosis prevention education. Moreover, evidence suggests that physicians do not adequately treat elderly patients with a diagnosis of osteoporosis or osteopenia. When they do discuss the disease with their patients, physicians are more likely to provide prevention strategies to elderly white women compared to men and premenopausal women of various ethnicities. Survey tools to identify postmenopausal women at high risk for low BMD are available but have not been validated in younger cohorts of men and women. To accomplish such goals, the purpose of this research was to: (1) determine whether currently existing survey tools designed to detect osteoporosis risk in postmenopausal females were also applicable to a younger adult population, and to (2) determine if those adults with risk factors for osteoporosis have been informed of having a high-risk status by any healthcare professional.

Chapter 3

Materials and Methods

A cross-sectional investigation was designed to evaluate current practices regarding low bone density identification in young adults. Participants completed three survey tools which the investigator compared to the subjects' DXA test results to determine the effectiveness of each survey designed to identify low bone mass.

Study Participants

Forty-two adult men and 41 adult women, aged 20 to 40 years, were recruited from Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University (Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, VA, U.S.A.) and the surrounding community using flyers, direct contact, and electronic mailings. The research project was approved by the Institutional Review Board for Research Involving Human Subjects at Virginia Tech. Prior to study participation, each participant read and signed an informed consent form. Participants were allowed the opportunity to ask the investigator any questions regarding the study protocol prior to providing informed, written consent.

A general health questionnaire designed by departmental faculty and the investigator was used to screen potential study participants. Individuals were excluded if they: (1) were under 20 or over 40 years of age, (2) were postmenopausal or perimenopausal women, (3) had physician-diagnosed metabolic bone disease, or (4) had used any prescription medications during the past year specifically for the purpose of improving bone density. Participants with secondary risk factors for osteoporosis, including hyperthyroidism and metabolic syndrome, were included in all final data analyses. The study was designed to evaluate healthcare practitioners' effectiveness

when identifying young adults at risk for bone disease; therefore, inclusion of these data allowed the investigator to determine if the health community was actively educating such persons about their risk levels. In addition, one survey tool allocated points to participants with rheumatoid arthritis; consequently, any individuals with that diagnosis were included in the final analyses. It was decided that a minimum of 40 participants was needed to achieve 95% confidence at p = 0.05 for area under the receiver operating characteristic (AUROC) curves; therefore, a minimum of 40 men and 40 women was recruited for analyses.

Procedures

The complete study protocol was carried out in the Bone Metabolism,

Osteoporosis, and Nutrition Evaluation Laboratory at Virginia Tech University. During a one-hour testing session, the investigator collected personal, anthropometric and body composition data. Participants also completed three survey tools previously designed and validated to detect low bone density in postmenopausal women. Data were collected between April 13, 2004, and May 14, 2004. Eighty-three participants completed all procedures.

Personal Data

Each participant provided a date of birth, past medical history, and physical activity habit profile. This information was used to confirm study eligibility within the age and medical constraints. Participants also answered questions used to determine if a healthcare professional had ever discussed osteoporosis or risk factors for having low bone density with participants. Histories regarding individual medical risk factors for low bone density and whether a healthcare professional had notified the participant of his or

her risk for osteoporosis were used to analyze current physician practices regarding osteoporosis education and prevention.

Anthropometric Data

Body weight was measured using a calibrated electronic scale (Scaletronix, Wheaton, IL, U.S.A.). Body height was measured with a wall-mounted stadiometer (ACCUSTAT, Ross Laboratories, Columbus, OH, U.S.A.). Each participant was shoeless and lightly clothed for standing height and weight measurements. Weights and heights were documented to the nearest 0.1 kg and 0.1 cm, respectively, and were used to calculate body mass index (BMI; kg/m) for each participant. Data were converted to pounds and inches for bone density patient profiles.

Survey Instruments

Participants completed three questionnaires validated for use in postmenopausal women, including the: (1) National Osteoporosis Foundation (NOF) Survey, (2)
Osteoporosis Risk Assessment Instrument (ORAI), and (3) Simple Calculated
Osteoporosis Risk Estimation (SCORE) Survey. Scoring methods used were consistent with those established by the ORAI and SCORE developers; scoring methods for the NOF Survey were evaluated by the investigator (Cadarette et al. 2000, Lydick et al. 1998, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998).

NOF Survey: This survey tool was designed to identify participants at risk for low bone mass as those persons with: (1) a small frame size, (2) a weight less than 57.6 kg or approximately 127 lbs., (3) a personal or family history of bone fracture, (4) menopausal status, (5) ethnicity, (6) use of bone-depleting medications, (7) a history of excess alcohol use, (8) consistent physical inactivity, (9) a history of cigarette smoking,

or (10) low dietary calcium intake. The NOF did not established a scoring method for this survey tool; however, past research supported the use of allowing one point for each risk factor. General guidelines established by the NOF recommend further testing of women over age 65 years at a score of one or above (National Osteoporosis Foundation, 1998), and high risk status was evaluated at a score of one or greater. Additionally, the survey tool studied indicated that the more risk factors participants selected, the higher their risk for low BMD became; therefore, high risk status was also evaluated by the investigator at a score greater than or equal to three.

ORAI: This instrument was designed to base osteoporosis risk levels on: (1) the age categories of 55 to 64 years, 65 to 74 years, and 75 years or older, (2) a weight range of 60 to 70 kg (132 to 154 lbs) or less than 60 kg, and (3) use of estrogen – containing medications. A score of nine or greater indicated that the participant was at risk for low bone mass (Cadarette et al. 2000).

SCORE Survey: The SCORE instrument was created to identify osteoporosis risk levels based on: (1) race, (2) bone fracture history, (3) an age over 65 years, (4) weight, (5) estrogen use, and (6) diagnosis of rheumatoid arthritis. Participants with a score of at least six were considered at high risk for low BMD levels (Lydick et al. 1998).

Bone Mineral Density Measurements

Prior to BMD analyses, all women submitted a urine sample for pregnancy testing (QuPID, Stanbio Laboratory, Boerne, TX). Forty-one women received a negative test result and completed BMD testing.

Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (QDR 4500A, Hologic, Inc., Bedford, MA) was used to measure total body (TB), lumbar spine (LS, L2-L4), total forearm (TF, radius

and ulna, comprised of the proximal, mid, and distal one-third forearm), and total proximal femur (TPF, including the femoral neck, trochanter, and Ward's triangle) BMD (g/cm²). Version 8.25a of the Whole Body Fan Beam software was used for analyses. All scans were conducted and analyzed by one Licensed Radiologic Technologist-Limited.

<u>Hypothesis</u>

All test results were used to (1) determine whether currently existing survey tools designed to detect osteoporosis risk in postmenopausal females were also applicable to a younger adult population, and to (2) determine if those adults with risk factors for osteoporosis were informed of having a high-risk status by any healthcare professional. If physicians did aggressively identify young adults with low bone mass, additional survey tools would not be warranted. Two hypotheses were tested:

- 1) Healthcare workers do not provide osteoporosis information to at least 50% of patients aged 20-40 years.
- 2) There will be no significant difference among decision rules in detecting low bone density levels in men and women ages 20-40 years.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were completed with the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) statistical software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL., version 12.0, 2003). Mean and standard deviations (M \pm SD) were computed for each variable under analysis. Outcome measures for the survey tools were determined at three degrees of low BMD: (1) a T-score \leq -1.0 (moderate osteopenia), (2) a T-score \leq -2.0 (severe osteopenia) and (3) a T-score \leq -2.5 (osteoporosis). Chi-square analyses were completed to identify any

differences in physician education between low and normal BMD groups, gender, and age levels. Unpaired, two-tailed t-tests were used to compare mean BMD values between men and women. Sensitivity and specificity were computed to analyze the accuracy of each survey tool. Sensitivity was used to determine each survey's ability to correctly identify participants who were at risk for low BMD levels. Specificity levels revealed each survey's ability to rule out those participants who were not at risk for low BMD levels. The area under the receiver operating characteristic (AUROC) curve was applied to compare the overall effectiveness of the three survey instruments. A significance level of p = 0.05 with 95% confidence interval (CI) was determined for all calculations.

Chapter 4

Results

Eighty-three participants completed the health questionnaire; 41 women and 42 men were included in final analyses.

Anthropometric Data

Characteristics of the study population are listed in Table 1. The mean age (± SD) of participants was 27.4 ± 5.2 years. The majority of participants classified themselves as Caucasian (79.5%; n=66), with additional reported ethnicities of Latino/Hispanic (7.2%; n=6), African descent (4.8%; n=4), Indian Asian (4.8%; n=4) and Asian (3.6%; n=3). Female participants were classified as Caucasian (80.5%; n=33), Latino/Hispanic (4.9%; n=2), African descent (4.9%; n=2), Indian Asian (4.9%; n=2) and Asian (4.9%; n=2). Male participants were classified as Caucasian (78.6%; n=33), Latino/Hispanic (9.5%; n=4), African descent (4.8%; n=2), Indian Asian (4.8%; n=2) and Asian (2.4%; n=1).

On average, participants weighed 72.4 ± 15.3 kg (range, 43.7 - 125.8 kg), with a height of 171.3 ± 8.5 cm (range, 147.3 - 193.0) and BMI of 24.1 ± 3.7 (range, 18.5 - 36.0 kg). Five (12.2%) female participants were classified as underweight (BMI ≤ 19.0). Thirty (73.2%) women and 22 (52.4%) men were of normal weight (BMI = 19.1-25.0), 5 (12.2%) women and 14 (33.3%) men were overweight (BMI = 25.1-29.9), and 1 (2.4%) woman and 6 (14.3%) men were obese (BMI ≥ 30).

General health characteristics of the study population are listed in Table 2.

Among women, 51.2% (n=21) reported using an estrogen – containing oral contraceptive.

Twenty-three percent (n=19) reported a family history of osteoporosis, with diagnosed

TABLE 1. Characteristics of Study Population.

Variable	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Range
All subjects: (n=83)		
Age (y)	27.4 <u>+</u> 5.2	20 - 40
Height (cm)	171.3 <u>+</u> 8.5	147.3 – 193.0
Weight (kg)	72.4 <u>+</u> 15.3	43.7 – 125.8
Body Mass Index (kg/m2)	24.1 <u>+</u> 3.7	18.5 - 36.0
Body Fat (%)	23.0 <u>+</u> 7.8	8.0 - 40.7
Women: (n=41)		
Age (y)	26.9 <u>+</u> 5.2	20 - 39
Height (cm)	165.9 <u>+</u> 6.7	147.3 – 177.8
Weight (kg)	62.4 <u>+</u> 10.8	43.7 – 92.1
Body Mass Index (kg/m2)	22.3 <u>+</u> 3.0	18.5 - 32.0
Body Fat (%)	26.7 <u>+</u> 6.5	15.2 - 40.7
Men: (n=42)		
Age (y)	27.9 <u>+</u> 5.2	20 – 40
Height (cm)	176.5 <u>+</u> 6.5	165.1 – 193.0
Weight (kg)	82.1 <u>+</u> 12.6	63.9 – 125.8
Body Mass Index (kg/m2)	25.8 <u>+</u> 3.6	21.0 - 36.0
Body Fat (%)	19.5 <u>+</u> 7.4	8.0 - 38.3

family members including a mother (9.8%; n=4), grandmother (39.0%; n=16), great – grandmother (4.9%; n=2), or grandfather (2.4%; n=1). Additionally, 14.6% (n=6) of women reported diagnoses that contribute to secondary osteoporosis, including anorexia (7.3%; n=3), celiac disease (2.4%; n=1), insulin–dependent diabetes (2.4%; n=1), and diabetes insipidus (2.4%, n=1). The one participant diagnosed with diabetes insipidus reported use of corticosteroids. A review of common osteoporotic fracture sites revealed that broken wrists were reported by 4.9% (n=2) of the women. Of these women, 1 of the 3 diagnosed with anorexia had been informed of osteoporosis risk, as had 1 woman diagnosed with diabetes insipidus and 2 women with a family history of osteoporosis.

Nineteen percent (n=8) of men reported a family history of osteoporosis, with diagnosed family members including a mother (9.5%; n=4), grandmother (11.9%; n=5), or father (2.4%; n=1). A medical diagnoses of metabolic syndrome, which contributes to secondary osteoporosis, was reported by 2.4% (n=1) of men. One (2.4%) man reported corticosteroid use. Moreover, 9.5% (n=4) of men reported a history of bone fracture at the forearm. Of these men, 2 reported receipt of bone health information: 1 participant with a history of corticosteroid use, and 1 with a history of forearm fracture.

Healthcare Provider Education

Among participants, 19.5% (n=8) of women and 7% (n=3) of men reported at least one previous discussion with a healthcare provider about osteoporosis risk and prevention. Table 3 identifies those healthcare professionals who provided participants with such information. Women participants were more likely to identify an obstetrician/gynecologist (25%; n=2) as the healthcare professional who provided them with information on bone health. Women also discussed osteoporosis risk with a

TABLE 2. General Health Characteristics of Participants*

	Women	Men
Oral Contraceptive Use (n=21)	21 (51.2)	N/A†
Family History of Osteoporosis: (n=27)		
Mother	4 (14.8)	4 (14.8)
Grandmother	16 (59.3)	5 (18.5)
Great – Grandmother	2 (7.4)	0 (0.0)
Father	0 (0.0)	1 (3.7)
Grandfather	1 (3.7)	0 (0.0)
Medical Diagnoses: (n=7)		
Anorexia Nervosa	3 (42.9)	0 (0.0)
Celiac Disease	1 (14.3)	0 (0.0)
Diabetes Insipidus	1 (14.3)	0 (0.0)
Insulin-Dependent Diabetes	1 (14.3)	0 (0.0)
Metabolic Syndrome	0 (0.0)	1 (14.3)
Corticosteroid Use (n=2)	1 (50)	1 (50)
Common Osteoporotic Fracture Sites: (n=6)		
Spine	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Нір	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Wrist	2 (33.3)	4 (67.7)

^{*}Expressed as number (percent) of participants. Values are not equal to 100% as multiple responses were possible.

 $[\]dagger N/A = not applicable$

TABLE 3. Healthcare Providers Who Discussed Osteoporosis Risk With Participants (n=11)

Healthcare Provider	Number (Percent) of Participants	
Nurse Practitioner	3 (28)	
Primary Care Physician	2 (18)	
Obstetrician/Gynecologist	2 (18)	
Orthopedic Surgeon	1 (9)	
Chiropractor	1 (9)	
Radiologic Technologist – Limited	1 (9)	
University Researcher	1 (9)	

chiropractor (12.5%; n=1), nurse practitioner (25%; n=2), primary care physician (12.5%; n=1), orthopedic surgeon (12.5%; n=1), and a university researcher (12.5%; n=1). One of the 2 women who received information from a nurse practitioner visited the health professional at an employee health fair. Men (7%; n=3) reported that they received information regarding osteoporosis from a primary care physician (33.3%; n=1), a nurse practitioner (33.3%; n=1) and a radiologic technologist–limited (33.3%; n=1).

Chi-Square Analysis

Participants were grouped into BMD T-score categories of a T-score ≤ -2.5 (osteoporosis), a T-score ≤ -2.0 (severe osteopenia), a T-score ≤ -1.0 (moderate osteopenia) and a T-score > -1.0 (normal BMD) to determine if healthcare professionals were more likely to discuss osteoporosis risk with those participants who had lower bone density. Healthcare providers were not significantly more likely to discuss osteoporosis risk with participants who had low T-scores. Furthermore, no significant difference was detected in the rates of osteoporosis discussion between health professionals and men (7%; n=3) and women (19.5%; n=8). Women over age 30 (23.4%; n=10) were no more likely than their younger counterparts (75.6%; n=31)) to discuss osteoporosis with a healthcare provider; moreover, men over age 30 (35.7%; n=15) did not receive more information regarding osteoporosis risk than did men under age 30 (64.3%; n=27).

Evaluation of Decision Rules

Based on DXA scan results, 32.0% (n=13) of women and 42.9% (n=18) of men had at least one body site with a T-score \leq -1.0. Dual—energy X—ray absorptiometry scans also revealed that of women participants, 4.9% (n=2) had at least one body site with a T-score \leq -2.0, and 2.4% (n=1) had at least one body site with a T-score \leq -2.5,

TABLE 4. Number (Percent) of Participants with Osteopenia, Severe Osteopenia, and Osteoporosis

	Women	Men	Total
T-score ≤ -1.0 (Osteopenia)	13 (32.0)	18 (42.9)	31 (37.3)
T-score ≤ -2.0 (Severe Osteopenia)	2 (4.9)	5 (11.9	7 (8.4)
T-score ≤ -2.5 (Osteoporosis)	1 (2.4)	3 (7.1)	4 (4.8)

compared to 11.9% (n=5) of men with T-scores \leq -2.0, and 7.1% (n=3) men with T-scores \leq -2.5. Results are reported in Table 4.

Average T-scores for the lumbar spine, proximal femur and forearm of all study participants are reviewed in Table 5. Average total body T-scores are provided for women only, as normative T-score values are currently not available for men. There was no significant difference between T-scores of the proximal femur or lumbar spine between men and women. Independent *t*-tests revealed women had a significantly higher T-score of 0.381 ± 0.766 at the forearm compared to an average T-score of -0.035 ± 0.996 for men (p = 0.036).

NOF Survey

One hundred percent (n=41) of women and 95.2% (n=40) of men received positive results when the NOF was scored at a risk threshold of 1. Of these participants, 32.0% (n=13) of women and 40.5% (n=17) of men had at least one body site with a T-score \leq -1.0. At a risk threshold of 3, 39.0% (n=16) of women and 23.8% (n=10) of men were identified for osteoporosis risk, of which 31.3% (n=5) of women and 33.3% (n=3) had at least one body site with a T-score \leq -1.0. The average NOF test score (Table 7) was 2.2 ± 1.1 for women, 1.7 ± 0.9 for men, and 2.0 ± 1.0 for the entire sample. The frequency distribution of NOF test scores is listed in Table 6.

ORAI survey

Forty-four percent (n=18) of women and 0.0% (n=0) of men received positive results when the ORAI was scored at a risk threshold of 9. Of those women with scores greater than 9, 31.3% (n=5) had at least one body site with a T-score \leq -1.0. The average

TABLE 5. Average Bone Mineral Density (BMD) T-scores of Study Participants (n=83)*

	Total (SD)	Women (SD)	Men (SD)	P-value †
Total Body	N/A	0.48 <u>+</u> 0.88	N/A	N/A
Lumbar Spine	-0.38 <u>+</u> 1.15	-0.39 <u>+</u> 0.96	-0.37 <u>+</u> 1.31	NS
Proximal Femur	0.12 <u>+</u> 0.97	0.15 <u>+</u> 1.09	0.09 <u>+</u> 0.85	NS
Total Forearm	0.17 <u>+</u> 0.91	0.38 <u>+</u> 0.77	-0.04 <u>+</u> 0.10	0.036

^{*}SD = standard deviation

^{*}N/A = not applicable *NS = not significant

[†]P-values from *t*-test comparisons; p < 0.05

TABLE 6. Survey Score Distribution (n=83)*

	Women	<u>Men</u>	<u>Total</u>
NOF Survey:			
0	0	2	2
1	15	18	33
2	10	12	22
3	11	9	20
4	4	1	5
5	1	0	1
ORAI Survey:			
0	2	36	38
1	0	0	0
2	4	0	4
3	10	6	16
4	0	0	0
5	7	0	7
6	0	0	0
7	0	0	0
8	0	0	0
9	9	0	9
10	0	0	0
11	9	0	9

^{*}Results by # participants for National Osteoporosis Foundation (NOF) and Osteoporosis Risk Assessment Instrument (ORAI) surveys. Dashed line = risk threshold.

ORAI test score (Table 7) was 6.2 ± 3.7 for women, 0.4 ± 1.0 for men, and 3.2 ± 3.9 for the entire sample. The frequency distribution of ORAI test scores is listed in Table 6.

SCORE survey

The SCORE survey did not select any participants as having a high risk for low BMD at a risk threshold of 6. The average SCORE test result (Table 7) was -1.9 \pm 2.8 for women, -5.5 \pm 4.0 for men, and -3.7 \pm 3.9 for the entire sample.

Comparisons

Average scores for the NOF, ORAI, and SCORE surveys are listed in Table 7. The sensitivity, specificity and AUROC curve were computed for each survey with a 95% CI at cutoff point T-scores of \leq -1.0, \leq -2.0 and \leq -2.5. The results are summarized in Table 8. Surveys were also evaluated separately for men (Table 9) and women (Table 10). Results were analyzed for the NOF survey with a trigger score of 1 (NOF 1), the NOF survey with a trigger score of 3 (NOF 3), the ORAI and SCORE.

The SCORE survey did not identify any study participants as having a high risk for low BMD; therefore, all AUROC curves for SCORE were 0.500 with a sensitivity of 0.00% and a specificity of 100%. NOF 1 had sensitivity rates of 96.8% at a T-score \leq - 1.0 and 100% at a T-score \leq -2.5, but corresponding specificity rates were only 19% and 2.5%, respectively. This resulted in AUROC curves of only 0.513 for both cutoff points. ORAI sensitivity rates did not exceed 29% for any of the three groups, although specificity rates ranged from 76.9% - 80.3%. The AUROC curves for ORAI ranged from 0.501 - 0.544. NOF 3 had an AUROC curve of 0.598 at a T-score of \leq -2.5, with a sensitivity of 50% and specificity of 68.4%. No other survey tools exceeded this AUROC curve level at any other cutoff point. The NOF 3 selected only 29% of total

TABLE 7. Average test scores for the NOF, ORAI, and SCORE surveys.

Variable	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Range	Risk Threshold
All subjects: (n=83)			
NOF•	2.0 <u>+</u> 1.0	0 - 5	1, 3
ORAI†	3.2 <u>+</u> 3.9	0 – 11	N/A*
SCORE°	-3.7 <u>+</u> 3.9	-13.9 – 5.0	N/A
<u>Women</u> : (n=41)			
NOF	2.2 <u>+</u> 1.1	1 – 5	1, 3
ORAI	6.2 <u>+</u> 3.7	0 – 11	9
SCORE	-1.9 <u>+</u> 2.8	-9.3 – 4.6	6
Men: (n=42)			
NOF	1.7 <u>+</u> 0.9	0 - 4	1, 3
ORAI	0.4 <u>+</u> 1.0	0 - 3	N/A
SCORE	-5.5 <u>+</u> 4.0	-13.9 – 5.0	N/A

^{*}N/A = not applicable; risk threshold not established for men
•National Osteoporosis Foundation Survey
†Osteoporosis Risk Assessment Instrument

[°]Simple Calculated Osteoporosis Risk Estimation

TABLE 8. Sensitivity, Specificity, and Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic (AUROC) Curve for Decision Rules to Detect Low BMD in Adults Ages 20-40 Years at $3 \text{ T} - \text{Score Levels } (n = 83)^*$

	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUROC†
BMD T score < -1.0 SD			
NOF (score 1)	0.968	0.190	.513
NOF (score 3)	0.290	0.654	.520
ORAI	0.161	0.769	.501
SCORE	0.000	1.000	.500
BMD T score < -2.0 SD			
NOF (score 1)	0.857	0.013	.508
NOF (score 3)	0.429	0.684	.563
ORAI	0.286	0.803	.544
SCORE	0.000	1.000	.500
BMD T score < -2.5 SD			
NOF (score 1)	1.000	0.025	.513
NOF (score 3)	0.500	0.684	.598
ORAI	0.250	0.797	.524
SCORE	0.000	1.000	.500

^{*} p = < 0.05; 95% Confidence Interval †Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic Curve

participants with a T-score \leq -1.0 as having low BMD levels, with an AUROC curve of 0.520. At a T-score \leq -2.0, NOF 3 selected only 42.9% of the population for testing but exhibited a sensitivity rate of 68.4%, resulting in an AUROC curve of 0.563. The investigator determined that differences in survey results between men and women were possible; therefore, a separate analysis of sensitivity, specificity and AUROC curves was conducted for each gender.

Decision rules for women

No survey tools exceeded an AUROC curve of 0.525 at a T-score \leq -1.0 (Table 9). NOF 1 had a sensitivity of 100% but a specificity of 0.0% at each T-score level, resulting from its inability to rule out any women from testing at this score level; therefore, the AUROC curve for this tool did not exceed 0.500 at any T-score level for women. NOF 3 had sensitivity and specificity rates of 46.2% and 60.7% at a T-score \leq -1.0, with an AUROC curve of only 0.525. The ORAI only selected 38.5% of women for testing, and combined with a specificity of 57.1% produced an AUROC curve of 0.511. However, both the NOF 3 and ORAI were able to detect 100% of women with T-scores \leq -2.0 and \leq -2.5, with specificity rates of 61.5% and 60%, respectively. This resulted in AUROC curves for both surveys of 0.821 and 0.813 at the more severe T-score levels. The SCORE did not detect any women at risk for low BMD, resulting in an AUROC curve of 0.500 with a sensitivity of 0.00% and specificity of 100%.

Decision rules for men

Neither the ORAI nor SCORE surveys detected any men at risk for low BMD at any of the 3 T-scores (Table 10). Both of these tests had AUROC curves of 0.500 in the

TABLE 9. Sensitivity, Specificity, and Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic (AUROC) Curve for Decision Rules to Detect Low BMD in Women at 3 T – Score Levels (n = 41)*

	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUROC†
BMD T score < -1.0 SD			
NOF (score 1)	1.000	0.000	0.500
NOF (score 3)	0.462	0.607	0.525
ORAI	0.385	0.571	0.511
SCORE	0.000	1.000	0.500
BMD T score < -2.0 SD			
NOF (score 1)	1.000	0.000	0.500
NOF (score 3)	1.000	0.615	0.821
ORAI	1.000	0.615	0.821
SCORE	0.000	1.000	0.500
BMD T score < -2.5 SD			
NOF (score 1)	1.000	0.000	0.500
NOF (score 3)	1.000	0.600	0.813
ORAI	1.000	0.600	0.813
SCORE	0.000	1.000	0.500

^{*} p = < 0.05; 95% Confidence Interval †Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic Curve

cohort of men. NOF 1 had sensitivity levels of 94.4% at T-scores \leq -1.0, 80% at T-scores \leq -2.0, and 100% at T-scores \leq -2.5; however, reported specificity was only 4.2%, 2.7%, and 5.1%, respectively. AUROC curves for NOF 1 did not exceed 0.526 at any cutoff point. NOF 3 sensitivity was only 16.7% - 33.3% for the three test levels, whereas specificity was 70.8% - 76.9%; moreover, NOF 3 had an AUROC curve of 0.551 for a T-score \leq -2.5. No other AUROC curve for NOF 3 exceeded 0.551. Only the NOF 1 selected over 50% of men with low BMD levels for testing; however this test was unable to rule out over 90% of men with normal BMD levels.

TABLE 10. Sensitivity, Specificity, and Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic (AUROC) Curve for Decision Rules to Detect Low BMD in Men at 3 T – Score Levels (n = 42)*

	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUROC†
BMD T score < -1.0 SD			
NOF (score 1)	0.944	0.042	.516
NOF (score 3)	0.167	0.708	.509
ORAI	0.000	1.000	.500
SCORE	0.000	1.000	.500
BMD T score < -2.0 SD			
NOF (score 1)	0.800	0.027	.502
NOF (score 3)	0.200	0.757	.511
ORAI	0.000	1.000	.500
SCORE	0.000	1.000	.500
BMD T score < -2.5 SD			
NOF (score 1)	1.000	0.051	.526
NOF (score 3)	0.333	0.769	.551
ORAI	0.000	1.000	.500
SCORE	0.000	1.000	.500

^{*} p = < 0.05; 95% Confidence Interval †Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic Curve

Chapter 5

Discussion

The current study was undertaken to review healthcare professional practices regarding young adults and osteoporosis education. At this time, prevention remains the best treatment for low bone density. If adequate bone density is not achieved early in life, current rates of osteoporosis and bone fractures, along with their associated costs to society, will continue to rise (Ray et al. 1997). Few studies have investigated osteoporosis discussions between health professionals and consumers under age 40 (Nickols-Richardson et al. 2002, Schrager et al. 2000), while no studies have evaluated any of the current osteoporosis survey tools for their appropriateness in a young adult population. This research provides data related to both of these issues. Healthcare professionals did not discuss osteoporosis prevention with at least 50% of the study population; the actual rate of discussion was 13.3% (n=11). At a T – score \leq -1.0, there was no significant difference among decision rules in detecting low bone density levels in men and women aged 20-40 years. There was a significant difference between genders in survey effectiveness for the NOF (score 3) and ORAI at a T – score \leq -2.0 and a T – score \leq -2.5.

Results of this study must be viewed with its limitations. Participation in the study was voluntary; therefore, it is possible that volunteers had an interest in health practices or were already concerned regarding their bone health. The majority of subjects were also Caucasian, limiting this study's applicability to the general population. Participants' answers regarding bone health discussions were not validated with medical records or health professional follow-up, which could allow for subject bias. However, it

would be expected that an effective educational session would be remembered by young persons. In addition, the sample size (n=83) used to test each decision rule was smaller than those typically used to validate such surveys in older women and men (Cadarette et al. 2000, Cadarette et al. 2001, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998, Weinstein & Ullery 2000); however, as the results clearly indicate that these decisions rules are not effective in this smaller cohort, one would expect similar findings with a larger number of participants.

Despite such limitations, several key findings were noted. Among men and women ages 20-40 years, osteoporosis risk is not frequently discussed with healthcare professionals. Healthcare professionals discussed bone health with only 13% of the study population. Women were statistically no more likely than men to receive such information, although a greater percentage (19.5% versus 7%, respectively) of women did report having bone density discussions. Research conducted by Kiebzak and colleagues (2002) indicates that men and women aged 50 years or older do not receive recommendations regarding osteoporosis risk or treatment, suggesting that, regardless of age, both genders receive inadequate osteoporosis education. Additionally, prior research confirms that women between the ages of 25 - 50 years receive less osteoporosis prevention education than their older counterparts, although this group could significantly benefit from such discussions (Nickols-Richardson et al. 2002, Schrager et al. 2000). Men and women over 30 years were no more likely to receive information regarding bone health than their younger counterparts. Previous studies found that women aged over 40 years do receive more osteoporosis education than their younger counterparts (Schrager et al. 2000); however, no studies have evaluated differences in education

between men and women aged over or under 30 years. Moreover, based on participants' T-scores, those persons currently having low BMD levels were just as likely to receive information on osteoporosis prevention than their counterparts with normal T-scores. This data suggests that healthcare professionals may not adequately discuss osteoporosis risk or prevention with adults under age 40. Furthermore, the fact that actual T-scores were not associated with an increased rate of bone health discussion suggests that health professionals do not adequately assess risk factors of young adults in this area, possibly due to the limited time allowed for each patient visit in the current healthcare system. A simple survey tool that screens patients at each visit could be very useful to identify and target those individuals with the highest risk for low BMD levels.

It is interesting to note that women reported receiving bone health information most frequently from obstetricians/gynecologists, while men had discussions concerning bone health most often with primary care physicians and nurse practitioners. Prior studies have identified primary care physicians as the main health professionals that consumers question regarding bone health information (Nickols-Richardson et al. 2002, Schrager et al. 1999, Schrager et al. 2000). This underscores the importance of including osteoporosis teaching tools in medical education for a variety of medical students and professional practitioners. It would also be important to include a nutritional component in both the medical school curriculum and continuing medical education for professionals to provide doctors and nurse practitioners with information regarding proper nutrition for bone growth and maintenance. Gynecologists, in particular, are in a unique position to discuss bone health with young women as they typically see these patients yearly.

Dietitians are in a key position to promote nutrition in the school curriculum and to

provide this information as medical student educators. In addition, as more dietitians become involved in public health and nutritional counseling, they have many opportunities to emphasize osteoporosis prevention with medical nutrition therapy in multiple settings, including university health fairs, worksite wellness programs and private practice.

The NOF, ORAI and SCORE were not effective screening tools for detecting low bone density in adults aged 20-40 years. Sensitivity and specificity are two common measurements for diagnostic tests (Biggerstaff, 2000). A test with a 100% sensitivity rate would identify 100% of participants who do have the disease, while a test with 100% specificity would rule out 100% of participants who do not have the disease. A test with an AUROC curve less than 0.60 is considered to be a poor indicator of disease risk (Biggerstaff, 2000); none of the above mentioned decision rules exceeded this limit for those participants with a T-score \leq -1.0. Those surveys that had high sensitivity levels, hence selecting the majority of participants with low T-scores, unfortunately had lower specificity levels, which would not allow health professionals to spend more time on education with at-risk individuals. Both the ORAI and the NOF (scored at 3) selected 100% of women with a T-score \leq -2.0, while ruling out 60%-61.5% of the population with T-scores above this level. Each of these surveys was effective as a decision rule in women with severe osteopenia or osteoporosis, which is consistent with findings in older women (Cadarette et al. 2000, Cadarette et al 2001). However, as the goal of osteoporosis prevention is to also educate men and women at risk who might not already have osteoporosis or severe osteopenia, it is questionable whether either of these instruments would be practical in the clinical or public health arenas.

The SCORE tool did place a larger emphasis on age, thereby eliminating all of the study participants from risk identification and resulting in poor sensitivity. Prior studies indicate that in older women, the SCORE has high sensitivity but poor specificity rates (Cadarette et al. 1999, Cadarette et al. 2001, Von Muhlen et al. 1999). Although the NOF guidelines are effective in older women when using a score of one to identify high risk participants (Cadarette et al. 2001, National Osteoporosis Foundation 1998), the NOF survey (scored at 1) was a poor indicator of low BMD risk in young adults. Participants also had to seek clarification to several of the survey's questions, including definitions of physically active behavior and dietary habits. This particular survey tool could possibly be more effective if the terminology was more clearly defined and a scoring system implemented to weight each question.

Overall, none of the decision rules effectively identified those young adults at risk for osteoporosis who already had T-scores ≤ -1.0. No prior research has evaluated these surveys in a young cohort. This suggests the need for the development and validation of such an instrument. Screening tools often serve to enhance awareness of a potential problem for consumers (Nickols-Richardson et al. 2002). Providing young men and women with a quick, simple tool that notifies them of a risk for poor bone health could enable clients to become proactive in personal health promotion. In addition, an effective decision rule could be used in physician offices and health fairs to screen for those persons who need additional bone health education. As time spent with a health professional for each individual is often limited, such a tool could allow for more efficient, cost-effective healthcare.

Future Research

Osteoporosis can be considered a pediatric disease, as health practices in childhood significantly affect bone health later in life. Further research is needed to investigate the frequency of bone health education with younger patients of varying ethnicities and economic background to determine which populations are most in need of such education. In addition, investigation is warranted to determine which educational methods are most effective to promote the need for osteoporosis prevention with health professionals in a variety of clinical and public health settings. Medical students, in particular, should receive such education as they often do not receive information regarding the effects of medical nutrition therapy in medical ailments.

Results from this research also indicate the need to develop and validate simple survey tools for use in adults under age 40. Such an instrument would aid health professionals in detecting which patients require additional bone health education, thereby potentially decreasing individual fracture risk as one ages. This tool should also be studied in clinical and public health applications to evaluate its utility in these settings.

Osteoporosis continues to be a significant public health problem that can interfere with the quality of life for those individuals with the disease. In addition, osteoporosis-related healthcare costs will continue to rise as the general population ages, unless early prevention efforts are emphasized in daily medical practice. Health professionals armed with educational resources and survey tools could significantly reduce the number of elderly persons diagnosed with osteoporosis tomorrow by focusing on prevention in younger adults today.

REFERENCES

- Adler, R.A., Tran, M.T. & Petkov, V.I. (2003). Performance of the Osteoporosis Self-assessment Screening Tool for Osteoporosis in American men. Mayo Clin. Proc., 78: 723-727.
- Analyses of the effectiveness and cost of screening and treatment strategies for osteoporosis: a basis for development of practice guidelines. (1998). Ost. Int., 8 (suppl 4): 1-88.
- Anderson, J.J.B. (2000). Nutrition for Bone Health. In: Food, Nutrition, and Diet Therapy, 10 ed. (Mahan, L.K. & Escott-Stump, S., ed.) pp 112-135; 611-630 W.B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia, PA.
- Anderson, J.J.B. & Pollitzer, W.S. (1994). Ethnic and genetic differences in susceptibility to osteoporotic fractures. In: Advances in Nutritional Research, vol. 9 (Draper H.H., ed.) p 129. Plenum Press, New York, NY.
- Andon, M.B., Ilich, J.Z., Tzagournis, M.A., Matkovic, V. (1996). Magnesium balance in adolescent females consuming a low- or high-calcium diet. Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 63: 950-953.
- Assessment of fracture risk and its application to screening for post menopausal osteoporosis: report of a WHO study group. (1994). World Health Org Tech Rep Ser; 843: 1-129.
- Atkinson, C., Compston, J.E., Day, N.E., Dowsett, M. & Bingham, S.A. (2004). The effects of phytoestrogen isoflavones on bone density in women: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 79: 326-333.
- Baillie, S.P., Davison, C.E., Johnson, F.J. & Francis, R.M. (1992). Pathogenesis of vertebral crush fractures in men. Age Ageing, 21: 139-141.
- Biggerstaff, B.J. (2000). Comparing diagnostic tests: a simple graphic using likelihood ratios. Stat. in Med., 19: 649-663.
- Bonjour, J.P., Theintz, G., Buchs, B., Slosman, D. & Rizzoli, R. (1991). Critical years and stages of puberty for spinal and femoral bone mass accumulation during adolescence. J. Clin. Endo. Met., 73: 555-563.
- Bronner, F. (1997). Calcium. In: Handbook of Nutritionally Essential Mineral Elements (O'Dell, B.L. & Sunde, R.A. eds.) pp 13 61. Marcel Dekker, New York, NY.
- Bronner, F. & Pansu, D. (1999). Nutritional aspects of calcium absorption. J. Nut., 129: 9-12.

- Bronner, F. & Stein, W.D. (1992) Modulation of bone calcium-binding sites regulates plasma calcium: an hypothesis. Calcif. Tissue Int., 50: 483-489.
- Brooks, J.D., Ward, W.E., Lewis, J.E., Hilditch, J., Nickell, L., Wong, E. & Thompson, L.U. (2004). Supplementation with flaxseed alters estrogen metabolism in postmenopausal women to a greater extent than does supplementation with an equal amount of soy. Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 79: 318-325.
- Cadarette, S.M., Jaglal, S.B., Kreiger, N., McIsaac, W.J., Darlington, G.A. & Tu, J.V. (2000). Development and validation of the Osteoporosis Risk Assessment Instrument to facilitate selection of women for bone densitometry. Can. Med. Assoc. J., 162: 1289-1294.
- Cadarette, S.M., Jaglal, S.B. & Murray, T.M. (1999). Validation of the simple calculated osteoporosis risk estimation (SCORE) for patient selection for bone densitometry. Ost. Int., 10: 85-90.
- Cadarette, S.M., Jaglal, S.B., Murray, T.M., McIsaac, W.J., Joseph, L. & Brown, J.P. (2001). Evaluation of decision rules for referring women for bone densitometry by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. J. Am. Med. Assoc., 286: 57-63.
- Calvo, M.S. & Park, Y.K. (1996). Changing phosphorus content of the U.S. diet: potential for adverse effects on bone. J. Nutr., 126: 1168S-1180S.
- Campbell, T.C. & Cox, C. (1996). The China Project. New Century Nutrition, Ithaca, NY.
- Caplan, G.A., Scane, A.C. & Francis, R.M. (1994). Pathogenesis of vertebral crush fractures in women. J. R. Soc. Med., 87: 200-202.
- Center, J.R., Nguyen T.V., Schneider D., Sambrook P.N. & Eisman, J.A. (1999). Mortality after all major types of osteoporotic fracture in men and women: an observational study. Lancet, 353: 878-882.
- Cheng, S., Tylavsky, F., Kroger, H., Karkkainen, M., Lyytikainen, A., Koistinen, A., Mahonen, A., Alen, M., Halleen, J., Vaananen, K. & Lamberg-Allardt, C. (2003). Association of low 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations with elevated parathyroid hormone concentrations and low cortical bone density in early pubertal and prepubertal Finnish girls. Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 78: 485-492.
- Compston, J.E. (1992). Risk factors for osteoporosis. Clin. Endocrinol., 36: 223-224.
- Crocombe, S. & Mughal, M.Z. (2004). Symptomatic Vitamin D deficiency among non-Caucasian adolescents living in the United Kingdom. Arch. Dis. Childhood, 89: 197-199.

- Cummings, S.R. & Black, D. (1995). Bone mass measurements and risk of fracture in Caucasian women: a review of findings from prospective studies. Am. J. Med., 98: 24S-28S.
- Deroisy, A., Zartarian, M., Meurmans, L., Nelissenne, N., Micheletti, M.C., Albert, A. & Reginster, J.Y. (1997). Acute changes in serum calcium and parathyroid hormone circulating levels induced by the oral intake of five currently available calcium salts in healthy male volunteers. Clin. Rheumatol., 16: 249-253.
- Devine, A., Criddle, R.A., Dick, I.M., Kerr, D.A. & Prince, R.L. (1995). A longitudinal study of the effect of sodium and calcium intakes on regional bone density in postmenopausal women. Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 62: 740-745.
- Ebeling, P.R., Sandgren, M.E., DiMagno, E.P., Lane, A.W., DeLuca, H.F, & Riggs, B.L. (1992). Evidence of an age-related decrease in intestinal responsiveness to vitamin D: relationship between serum 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and intestinal vitamin D receptor concentrations in normal women. J. Clin. Endocrin. Metab., 75: 176-182.
- Falahati-Nini, A., Riggs, B.L., Atkinson, E.J., O'Fallon W.M., Eastell, R. & Khosla, S. (2000). Relative contributions of testosterone and estrogen in regulating bone resorption and formation in normal elderly men. J. Clin. Invest., 106: 1553-1560.
- Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, National Academy of Sciences, Panel on Macronutrients, Panel on the Definition of Dietary Fiber, Subcommittee on Upper Reference Levels of Nutrients, Subcommittee on Interpretation and Uses of Dietary Reference Intakes, and the Standing Committee on the Scientific Evaluation of Dietary Reference Intakes. (2002). Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Food and Nutrition Board (1999). Dietary Reference Intakes: Recommended Levels for Individual Intake. Institute of Medicine National Academy of Sciences, National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.
- Forsen, L., Sogaard, A.J., Meyer, H.E., Edna, T.H. & Kopjar, B. (1999). Survival after hip fractures: short-and long-term excess mortality according to age and gender. Osteoporosis Int.; 10: 73-78.
- Fox, C.H., Ramsoomair, D., Mahoney, M.C., Carter, C., Young, B. & Graham, R. (1999). An Investigation of Hypomagnesemia Among Ambulatory Urban African Americans. J. Fam. Prac., 48: 636-639.

- Fujita, T. & Fukase, M. (1992). Comparison of osteoporosis and calcium intake between Japan and the United States. Proceedings of the Society of Experimental Biology and Medicine 200.2: 149-152.
- Harrison, B.J., Hutchinson, C.E., Adams, J., Bruce, I.N. & Herrick, A.L. (2002). Assessing periarticular bone mineral density in patients with early psoriatic arthritis or rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis., 61 (11): 1007-1011.
- Heaney, R.P. (2004). Phosphorus nutrition and the treatment of osteoporosis. Mayo Clinic Proc., 79: 91-97.
- Hendricks, K.M. & Herbold, N.H. (1998). Diet, activity, and other health-related behaviors in college-age women. Nutr. Rev., 56: 65-75.
- Holick, M.F. (1996). Vitamin D and bone health. J. Nutr., 126: 1159S-1164S.
- Johnston, C.C., Slemanda, C.W. & Melton, L.J. (1992). Changes in skeletal tissue during the aging process. Nutr. Rev, 50: 385387.
- Johnston, C.C., Slemanda, C.W. & Melton, L.J. (1991). Clinical use of bone densitometry. New Eng. J. Med., 324: 1105-1109.
- Jones, G., Beard, T, Parameswaran, V., Greenaway, T. & Von Witt, R. (1997). A population-based study of the relationship between salt intake, bone resorption and bone mass. Eur. J. Clin. Nutr., 51: 561-565.
- Kalkwarf, H.J., Khoury, J.C. & Lanphear, B.P. (2003). Milk intake during childhood and adolescence, adult bone density, and osteoporotic fractures in US women. Am. J. Clin. Nut., 77: 257-265.
- Kanis, J.A., Johnell, O., Oden, A., Jonsson, B., De Laet, C. & Dawson, A. (2000). Risk of hip fracture according to the World Health Organization criteria for osteopenia and osteoporosis. Bone, 27: 585-590.
- Kawamura, H., Ito, A., Miyakawa, S., Layrolle, P., Ojima, K., Ichinose, N. & Tateishi, T. (2000). Stimulatory effect of zinc-releasing calcium phosphate implant on bone formation in rabbit femora. J. Biomed. Mater. Res., 50: 184-190.
- Kennedy, E.T., Bowman, S.A. & Powell, N.R. (1999). Dietary fat intake in the U.S. population. J. Am. Coll. Nutr., 3: 207-212.
- Kerstetter, J.E., Allen, L.H. (1990). Dietary protein increases urinary calcium. J. Nutr., 120-134.

- Kerstetter, J.E., O'Brien, K.O. & Insogna, K.L. (2003). Dietary protein, calcium metabolism, and skeletal homeostasis revisited. Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 78: 584S-592S.
- Kiebzak, G.M., Beinart, G.A., Perser, K., Ambrose, C.G., Siff, S.J. & Heggeness, M.H. (2002). Undertreatment of osteoporosis in men with hip fracture. Arch. Intern. Med., 162: 2217-2222.
- Klaus, J., Armbrecht, G., Steinkamp, M., Bruckel, J., Rieber, A., Adler, G., Reinshagen, M., Felsenberg, D. & von Tirpitz, C. (2002). High prevalence of osteoporotic vertebral fractures in patients with Crohn's disease. Gut, 51: 654-658.
- Klesges, R.C., Harmon-Clayton, K., Ward, K.D., Kaufman, E.M., Haddock, C.K., Talcott, G.W. & Lando, H.A. (1999). Predictors of milk consumption in a population of 17- to 35-year old military personnel. J. Am. Diet. Assoc., 99:821-826.
- Koh, L.K.H., Sedrine, W.B., Torralba, T.P., Kung, A., Fujiwara, S., Chan, S.P., Huang, Q.R., Rajatanavin, R., Tsai, K.S., Park, H.M. & Reginster, J.Y. (2001). A simple tool to identify Asian women at increased risk of osteoporosis. Ost. Int., 12: 699-705.
- Larkey, L.K., Day, S.H., Houtkooper, L. & Renger, R. (2003). Osteoporosis prevention knowledge and behavior in a southwestern community. J. Comm. Health, 28: 377-388.
- Lees, B., Stevenson, J.C., Molleson, T. & Arnett, T.R. (1993). Differences in proximal femur bone density over two centuries. Lancet, 341: 673-676.
- Lehtonen-Veromaa, M.K.M., Mottonen, T.T., Nuotio, I.O., Irjala, K.M.A., Leino, A.E. & Viikari, J.S.A. (2002). Vitamin D and attainment of peak bone mass among peripubertal Finnish girls: a 3-y prospective study. Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 76: 1446-1453.
- Lin, P.H., Ginty, F., Appel, L.J., Aickin, M., Bohannon, A., Garnero, P., Barclay, D., Svetkey, L.P. (2003). The DASH diet and sodium reduction improve markers of bone turnover and calcium metabolism in adults. J. Nutr., 133: 3130-3136.
- Looker, A.C., Orwoll, E.S., Johnston C.C., Lindsay, R.L, Wahner, H.W., Dunn, W.L., Calvo, M.S., Harris, T.B. & Heyes, S.P. (1997) Prevalence of low femoral bone density in older U.S. adults from NHANES III. J. Bone Min. Res., 12: 1761-1768.
- Lydick, E., Cook, K., Turpin, J., Melton, M., Stine, R. & Byrnes, C. (1998).

 Development and validation of a simple questionnaire to facilitate identification of women likely to have low bone density. Am. J. Manag. Care., 4: 37-48.

- Macdonald, H.M., New, S.A., Golden, M.H.N., Campbell, M.K. & Reid, D.M. (2004). Nutritional associations with bone loss during the menopausal transition: evidence of a beneficial effect of calcium, alcohol, and fruit and vegetable nutrients and of a detrimental effect of fatty acids. Am. J. Clin. Nut., 79: 155-165.
- Madsen, O.R., Jensen, J.B. & Sorensen, O.H. (1997). Validation of a dual energy x-ray absorptiometer: measurement of bone mass and soft tissue composition. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol., 75: 554-558.
- Matakovic, D., Ilich, J.Z., Andon, M.B., Hsieh, L.C., Tzagournis, M.A., Lagger, B.J. & Goel, P.K. (1995). Urinary calcium, sodium and bone mass of young females. Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 62: 417-425.
- Mazess, R.B. (1982). On aging bone loss. Clin Orthop, 165: 239-252.
- Miller, M., Crotty, M., Whitehead, C., Daniels, L. & Finucane, P. (2001). Nutritional assessment and intervention in patients admitted with a femoral neck fracture: a chronicle of missed opportunities. Aust. J. Nut. Diet., 58: 86-91.
- Miller, K.D., Masur, H., Jones, E.C., Joe, G.O., Rick, M.E., Kelly, G.G., Mican, J.M., Liu, S., Gerber, L.H., Blackwelder, W.C., Falloon, J., Davey, R.T., Polis, M.A., Walker, R.E., Lane, H.C. & Kovacs, J.A. (2002). High prevalence of osteonecrosis of the femoral head in HIV-infected adults. Ann. Intern. Med., 137: 17-25.
- Mondy, K., Yarasheski, K., Powderly, W.G., Whyte, M., Claxton, S., DeMarco, D., Hoffmann, M. & Tebas, P. (2003). Longitudinal evolution of bone mineral density and bone markers in Human Immunodeficiency Virus-infected individuals. Clin. Infect. Dis., 36: 482-490.
- Mudano, A.S., Casebeer, L., Patino, F., Allison, J.J., Weissman, N.W., Kiefe, C.I., Person, S., Gilbert, D. & Saag, K.G. (2003). Racial disparities in osteoporosis prevention in a managed care population. Southern Med. J., 96: 445-451.
- National Osteoporosis Foundation (1998). Physician's Guide to Prevention and Treatment of Osteoporosis. Washington, D.C. (National Osteoporosis Foundation, ed.) pp 1-29.
- New, S.A., Bolton-Smith, C., Grubb, D.A. & Reid, D.M. (1997). Nutritional influences on bone mineral density: a cross-sectional study in premenopausal women. Am. J. Clin. Nut., 65: 1831-1839.
- New, S.A., Robins, S.P., Campbell, M.K., Martin, J.C., Garton, M.J., Bolton-Smith, C., Grubb, D.A., Lee, S. & Reid, D.M. (2000). Dietary influences on bone mass and bone metabolism: further evidence of a positive link between fruit and vegetable consumption and bone health? Am. J. Clin. Nut., 71: 142-151.

- Nickols-Richardson, S.M., Quinn, C.E. & Clymer, E.K. (2002). Women's actions related to health behaviors after receiving bone mineral density results: an exploratory study. Am. J. Med. Sci., 4: 125-134.
- Nowak, M. & Buttner, P. (2002). Adolescents' food-related beliefs and behaviours: a cross-sectional study. Nut. Diet.: J. Diet. Assoc. Aus., 59: 244-252.
- Oomes, M.E. et al (1995). Vitamin D status and sex hormone binding globulin: determinants of bone turnover and bone mineral density in elderly women. J. Bone Min. Res., 10: 1177-1180.
- Opinion Research Corporation International (1996). Citracal osteoporosis prevention survey. Conducted for Mission Pharmacal.
- Orces, C.H., Casas, C., Lee, S., Garcia-Cavazos, R. & White, W. (2003). Determinants of osteoporosis prevention in low-income Mexican-American women. Southern Med. J., 96: 458-464.
- Pansu, D., Bellaton, C., Roche, C. & Bronner, F. (1983). Duodenal and ileal calcium absorption in the rat and effects of vitamin D. Am. J. Physiol. 244: G695-G700.
- Perret, C., Lomri, N., Gouhier, N., Auffray, C. & Thomasset, M. (1988). The rat vitamin-D-dependent calcium-binding protein (9-Kda CaBP) gene. Complete nucleotide sequence and structural organization. Eur. J. Biochem., 172:43-51.
- Position of the American Dietetic Association and Dietitians of Canada (1999): Women's health & nutrition. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 99: 738-751.
- Pramer, A., Furner, S. & Rice, D.P. (1992). Musculoskeletal conditions in the United States. Park Ridge: American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons.
- Raff, H. & Shaker, J. (2003). Bone physiology. In: Physiology Secrets, 2nd ed. (H. Raft, ed.) pp. 245-247, Hanley & Blefus, Inc., Philadelphia, PA.
- Raisz, L.G., Niemann, I. (1969). Effect of phosphate, calcium and magnesium on bone resorption and hormonal responses in tissue culture. Endocrin., 85: 446-452.
- Ray, N.F., Chan, J.K., Thamer, M. & Melton, L.J. (1997). Medical expenditures for the treatment of osteoporotic fractures in the United Sates in 1995: report from the National Osteoporosis Foundation. J Bone Miner Res, 12: 24-35.
- Recker, R.R., Davies, K.M., Hinders, S.M., Heaney, R.P., Stegman, M.R. & Kimmel, D.B. (1992). Bone gain in young adult women. J of the Am Med Assoc, 268: 2403-2408.

- Rizzoli, R., Slosman, D. & Bonjour, J. (1995). The role of dual energy x-ray absorptiometry of lumbar spine and proximal femur in the diagnosis and follow-up of osteoporosis. Am. J. Med., 98: 33S-36S.
- Royal College of Physicians (1999) Osteoporosis: Clinical Guidelines for prevention and Treatment. London, RCP.
- Rude, R.K., Gruber, H.E., Norton, H.J., Wei, L.Y., Frausto, A. & Mills, B.G. (2004). Bone loss induced by dietary magnesium reduction to 10% of the nutrient requirement in rats is associated with increased release of substance P and tumor necrosis factor-[alpha]. J. Nutr., 134: 79-85.
- Runyan, S.M., Stadler, D.D., Bainbridge, C.N., Miller, S.C. & Moyer-Mileur, L.J. (2003). Familial resemblance of bone mineralization, calcium intake, and physical activity in early adolescent daughters, their mothers, and maternal grandmothers. J. Am. Diet. Assoc., 103: 1320-1325.
- Salkeld, G., Cameron, I.D., Cumming, R.G., Easter, S., Seymour, J., Kurrle, S.E. & Quine, S. (2000). Quality of life related to fear of falling and hip fracture in older women: a time trade off study. Br. Med. J., 320: 341-345.
- Schrager, S., Kausch, T. & Bobula, J.A. (1999). Osteoporosis risk assessment by family practice faculty and residents: a chart review. Wis. Med. J., 98: 34-36.
- Schrager, S., Plane, M.B., Mundt, M.P. & Stauffacher, E.A. (2000). Osteoporosis prevention counseling during health maintenance examinations. J. Fam. Prac., 49: 1099-1103.
- Sedrine, W.B., Broers, P., Devogelaer, J.P., Depresseux, G., Kaufman, J.M., Goemaere, S. & Reginster, J.Y. (2002). Interest of a prescreening questionnaire to reduce the cost of bone densitometry. Ost. Int., 13: 434-442.
- Shagam, J.Y. (2003). Bone densitometry: an update. Radiol. Tech., 321-338.
- Trowell, H. & Burkitt, P., ed. (1981). Western diseases: their emergence and prevention. Boston Havard University Press.
- Tucker, K.L., Chen, H., Hannan, M.T., Cupples, L.A., Wilson, P.W.F., Felson, D. & Kiel, D.P. (2002). Bone mineral density and dietary patterns in older adults: the Framingham Osteoporosis Study. Am. J. Clin. Nut., 76: 245-252.
- Tylavsky, F.A., Holliday, K., Danish, R., Womack, C., Norwood, J. & Carbone, L. (2004). Fruit and vegetable intakes are an independent predictor of bone size in early pubertal children. Am. J. Clin. Nut., 79: 311-317.

- Volek, J.S., Gomez, A.L., Scheett, T.P., Sharman, M.J., French, D.N., Rubin, M.R., Ratamess, N.A., McGuigan, M.M. & Kraemer, W.J. (2003). Increasing fluid milk favorably affects bone mineral density responses to resistance training in adolescent boys. J. Am. Diet. Assoc., 103: 1353-1356.
- Volpe, S.L. (1999). Calcium, zinc, iron, and exercise in women. Top. Clin. Nutr., 14: 43-52.
- Von Muhlen, D., Visby Lunde, A., Barrett-Connor, E. & Bettencourt, R. (1999). Evaluation of the simple calculated osteoporosis risk estimation (SCORE) in older Caucasian women: the Rancho Bernardo study. Ost. Int., 10: 79-84.
- Whang, R., Hampton, E.M. & Whang, D.D. (1994). Magnesium homeostasis and clinical disorders of magnesium deficiency. Ann. Pharmacot., 28: 220-225.
- Weaver, C.M., Heaney, R.P., Martin, B.R. & Fitzsimmons, M.L. (1991). Human calcium absorption from whole-wheat products. J. Nutr. 121: 1769-1775.
- Weinstein, L. & Ullery, B. (2000). Identification of at-risk women for osteoporosis screening. Am. J. Obstectrics and Gyn., 183: 547-549.
- Wood, R.J. & Zheng, J.J. (1997). High dietary calcium intakes reduce zinc absorption and balance in humans. Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 65: 1803-1809.
- Yasumizu T, Nakamura Y, Hoshi K, et al. (1998). Bone metabolism after human parturition and the effect of lactation: longitudinal analysis of serum bone related proteins and bone mineral content of the lumbar spine. Endo. J., 45:679-686.
- Yucha, C., Guthrie, D. (2003). Renal Homeostasis of Calcium. Neph. Nurs. J., 30: 621-626.
- Zofkova, I. & Kancheva, R.L. (1995). The relationship between magnesium and calciotropic hormones. Magnesium Res., 8: 77-84.

APPENDIX A

Decision Rules

Subject #	Male	Female
National Osteoporosis Foundation (NOF) Survey		
Answering the following questions can help you determ for osteoporosis.	mine whether	r you may be at risk
1. Do you have a small, thin frame and /or are you Ca	aucasian or A	Asian?
2. Are you a postmenopausal woman?		
3. Have you or a member of your immediate family based as you b. family member	oroken a bon	e as an adult?
4. Have you had an early or surgically-induced meno	pause?	
5. Have you been taking high doses of thyroid medic of cortisone-like drugs for asthma, arthritis or oth		
6. Is your diet low in dairy products and other source (less than 3 servings daily)	es of calcium	?
7. Are you physically inactive? (less than 2.5 hours in the last 7 days)		
8. Do you smoke cigarettes or drink alcohol in excess (average of greater than 2 drinks daily)	s?	

Subject #	Male	Female

OSTEOPOROSIS RISK ASSESSMENT INSTRUMENT (ORAI)

Please check the column that is most appropriate.

<u>Variable</u>	Yes	<u>No</u>	Score
Age in years ≥ 75 65-74 55-64 ≤ 54			
Weight in kilograms < 60 (132 pounds) 60-69 (132 − 152 pounds) ≥ 70 (154 pounds)			
Current estrogen use			

Subject #	Male	Female
SCORE Sheet (Osteoporosis Survey)		
Answering the following questions can help you determined for osteoporosis.	ermine whether	you may be at risk
1. What is your current age?		
 2. What is your race or ethnic group (check one)? a. Black b. Caucasian c. Hispanic d. Asian e. Native Canadian/First Nation f. Other 		
3. Have you ever been treated for, or told you have	e rheumatoid ar	thritis?
4. As an adult, have you experienced a fracture (b sites? (Please provide an answer for each of the a. Hip b. Rib c. Wrist		
5. Do you currently take or have you ever ta Premarin, Estraderm, Estring, Estrace, Ogen)	ken estrogen?	(Examples include

6. What is your current weight in pounds? ____

Vitae

Amanda Lynn Willig, RD

June 2004

EDUCATION

Virginia Polytechnic Institute & State University (VT), Blacksburg, VA:

M.S. in Community Nutrition expected: June 2004

Dietetic Internship completed: May 2001

Louisiana Tech University (La Tech), Ruston, LA:

B.S. in Nutrition & Dietetics awarded: May 2000

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

Medical Facilities of America, Inc.:

Corporate Dietitian for Long Term Care and Rehabilitation Facilities: May 2001-May 2004

CONTINUING EDUCATION

University of Alabama – Birmingham (UAB), Birmingham, AL:

PhD in Nutrition Sciences: enrollment expected for August 2004